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CAO Lisa Spitale
MESSAGE FROM

2018 was a year of 
progress, as we set the 
foundation for several 
important strategic 
priorities. City staff 
continued to provide 
excellent service to our 
community while working 
on projects that aimed to 

improve living, working, and visiting New Westminster.   

As New Westminster has grown and progressed over the 
years, we’ve also offered more services to meet the 
needs of our community. In order to facilitate workflow 
and centralize services, City Hall renovations started last 
year with the first phase still underway, which will include 
new meeting rooms and offices, as well as a seismic 
upgrade. Phase two will include moving Parks and 
Recreation administration to the refurbished offices on 
the main floor of City Hall.

I believe investing in our arts community is important, as 
culture is a huge part of creating a livable city. We took 
our revised draft arts strategy to our community in 2018 
through a number of means including an open house, 
workshop, and survey. We are currently working on a 
complete culture plan that will guide the cultural growth 
of our city into the future. 

We also implemented several actions as outlined in our 
Master Transportation Plan, which outlines policies  
and actions in support of creating a sustainable 
transportation system in our growing city. Some of our 
actions in 2018 include making further accessibility 
improvements such as installing curb letdowns and 
wheelchair landing pads at bus stops; working with 
community partner organizations to deliver the walking 
challenges, and completing neighbourhood transportation 
plans for Sapperton and Massey-Victory Heights. These 
actions work towards some of the plan’s overall 
objectives such as enhancing the pedestrian, cycling, and 
transit networks and promoting livable neighbourhoods.

I’m also proud of the daily efforts of all of our staff to 
provide the necessary services that keep our city safe, 
keep our recreation programs running, and keep our city 
clean and maintained, just to name a few. Our fire 
department responded to 189 fires and over 2,500 
medical emergencies, 30,000 participants enjoyed a wide 
range of our recreation programs, we issued a record high 
of 4,425 business licences, and we averted 1,733 tonnes 
of recycling and 3,632 tonnes of yard and food scraps 
from the landfill. We also saw 14,665 residents come out 
to vote in our municipal election last year.

A huge thank you to all the volunteers, organizations, 
residents, and City staff who made 2018 a year we can be 
proud to look back on. 

Lisa Spitale 
CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER
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Mayor Jonathan X. Coté
MESSAGE FROM

Looking back on 2018, 
I’m amazed at the 
progress we made on big 
projects that all at their 
foundation aim to 
improve the lives of 
people who live and work 
in our city. We continued 
to move forward on 

affordable housing initiatives, engaged with our community 
on choosing a design option for the future aquatics and 
community centre, undertook a large library renovation 
project, and took the Q to Q ferry into the pilot phase 
following a successful demonstration period. I am so 
proud of what our staff, community members, and 
volunteers have achieved this past year and appreciate that 
our staff in every department continue to work tirelessly 
on our many projects and initiatives while providing 
excellent customer service every day.

Our dedication to increase livability in our increasingly 
expensive region continues as we broke ground on two 
small sites affordable housing projects at 43 Hastings 
Street and 630 Ewen Avenue last spring. A modular 
supportive housing project at 838 Ewen Avenue was also 
approved last year with occupancy expected by the end 
of 2019. We also set the groundwork in 2018 for the 
recently implemented Rental Housing Revitalization 
Initiative, which protects tenants from evictions related 
to building renovations. Additionally, we are working on 
a Memorandum of Understanding with BC Housing to 
further our collaboration, including with our non-profit 
partners, in support of enhanced housing affordability.     

We also spent several months gathering public input and 
feedback on the proposed program and facilities for the 
future New West aquatics and community centre and 
pursued the development of two design options based 
on the feedback. To date, a schematic design phase has 
been completed by HCMA Architecture + Design and an 
advisory panel will be working to provide feedback to 
City staff as we move into the construction phase.

The main branch of our public library underwent major 
renovations throughout the whole of last year, including 
new reading and study spaces, installing energy efficient 
lighting, improving accessibility with installation of 
automatic doors and lower level washrooms, and making 
major infrastructure improvements throughout the 
facility. The project is now complete, with an official 
reopening celebration set for June 2019.

Based on the success of the demonstration service  
and feedback from 2017, we launched a full scale, fully 
accessible pilot Q to Q ferry service in May of 2018. The 
daily service accommodated people of all ages and 
abilities, with over 60,000 passenger trips taken last year. 
Due to popular demand, the pilot was extended indefinitely 
and we hope to be able to provide this Queensborough to 
Quayside connection as long as we can.

Thank you to everyone on our staff and in our community 
for all of your hard work this past year. Let’s make 2019 
a great one too!

Jonathan X. Coté 
MAYOR
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DEPARTMENTAL RE VIEWS

Looking Forward

Going forward, we plan on 
upgrading the City’s electrical 
billing software and online 
customer portal to enhance our 
customers’ experience, while 
maintaining an accurate and 
efficient billing process. 
Throughout the year, we will 
continue to provide key support 
regarding budgets, procurement, 
project financing for all  
City departments.

Finance
The Finance Department is responsible for the City of  
New Westminster’s overall financial stewardship. 

Accomplishments

Implemented new electric 
meter reading hardware/
software, transforming the way 
meter reading at the City is 
handled, resulting in increased 
productivity and efficiency

Increased choice and 
convenience for city residents 
and businesses by offering 
more electronic payment 
options for both customers  
and vendors

Upgraded the City’s  
financial system to ensure  
its compatibility with  
current technology
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Legislative Services
Legislative Services provides services to City Council, City 
departments and the public, and is responsible for ensuring 
city government and decision-making processes maintain 
transparency, accountability, integrity and accessibility. 
This includes providing support for council meetings, most 
committee meetings, public hearings, and bylaw creation. 
The department is also responsible for the City’s compliance 
with Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy 
legislation, and managing insurance and risk, corporate 
records, and elections.

Looking Forward

We will continue to support 
Council’s legislative agenda and 
work with Council on a review  
of the City’s committees.

Accomplishments

Administered the 2018 General  
Local Elections to elect the mayor, 
six councillors and seven school 
trustees and implemented a new 
elector management system that 
facilitated the voting process

Managed insurance and risk 
through the administration of the 
City’s insurance portfolio, 
minimizing loss exposure relating to 
liability by working with the City’s 
manager, legal services, City staff, 
and insurances providers

Conducted recruitment of  
citizen volunteers, with City’s 
committees now having roughly  
a 50% gender balance 14,665

VOTER TURNOUT (28.9%)

9,820
COUNCIL MEETING VIEWS

199
UNIQUE VIEWS WERE  
THE MOST FOR A COUNCIL 
MEETING 

92
BYLAWS ADOPTED 
BY COUNCIL

87
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
REQUESTS RECEIVED



Looking Forward

The Development Services Department’s workplan is quite robust for 2019 
and beyond. We will continue to emphasize priority areas such as affordable 
housing, social equity, public engagement, and customer service performance 
targets. Tenant protections will remain a key focus of policy analysis, bylaw 
implementation, and process review. We will be introducing our Business 
Ambassador Program to Council and marketing the new program to the public.

In the coming year, we are processing several large-scale redevelopment 
applications such as Sapperton Green; neighbourhood planning for the 22nd 
Street SkyTrain Station Frequent Transit Development Area; implementing the 
BC Energy Step Code; pursuing policy development around low-carbon infill 
development, heritage retention and rental housing initiatives; and commencing 
more robust reconciliation efforts in our development review processes. 

2018 ANNUAL REPORT
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Accomplishments

Received final inspections on the 
city’s first laneway house

Completed the City’s first Food 
Security Action Plan (2018) 

Completed approvals on two 
City-owned small sites affordable 
housing projects and approved a BC 
Housing project offering temporary 
modular housing for women

16,418
TOTAL BUILDING AND 
PLUMBING INSPECTIONS

248
TREE PERMITS APPROVED 

185
INQUIRIES FROM  
PROPERT Y OWNERS, 
REALTORS AND BUILDERS 
INTERESTED IN LANEWAY  
AND CARRIAGE HOUSES  

4,425
BUSINESS LICENSES ISSUED 
(A RECORD HIGH)

840
COMPLAINTS RESPONDED TO, 
INVESTIGATED AND RESOLVED 
BY INTEGRATED SERVICES

148
NEW CHILDCARE  
SPACES CREATED  

200+
ATTENDEES AT THE 
NEWCOMERS INFORMATION 
FAIR AND FESTIVAL   

5
HERITAGE REVITALIZATION 
AGREEMENTS ADOPTED  
BY COUNCIL

453
HOUSING UNITS STARTED 

202
NEW RENTAL UNITS  
GRANTED OCCUPANCY 

605
BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED 
FOR $292,105,214 IN TOTAL 
BUILDING PERMIT 
CONSTRUCTION VALUE

Development 
Services
The Development Services department proactively develops 
and facilitates planning, investment in the community, 
and regulatory strategies that are designed to make New 
Westminster a complete, balanced and livable community. 
We provide strategic community and social planning to foster 
a great place for living, working and leisure. This involves 
neighbourhood, urban environment, social and heritage 
planning, management of the development approvals and 
building permit and inspection processes, issuance of 
businesses licences and enforcement of bylaws. 
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Parks &  
Recreation
Our mission is to create parks and recreational opportunities 
that nurture healthy individuals and families, strong and 
unique neighbourhoods, a vibrant city, and thriving economy. 
Through our services, we strive to create quality of life for  
all in New Westminster. 
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Looking Forward

In 2019, we’re looking forward to starting construction on the Queen’s Park 
Sportsplex, which will offer a variety of sports services which were displaced 
by the loss of the Queen's Park Arenex. In the spring, we will also open our first 
universal washroom in Queen's Park. Detailed design for the new aquatics 
and community centre will also be completed in late 2019 in anticipation of 
construction starting in 2020.

10,438 
SWIMMING LESSON  
PARTICIPANTS AT CANADA 
GAMES POOL (A NEW RECORD)

19,596 
RENTAL BOOKINGS  
ACCOMODATED

3,374 
PARTICIPANTS LEARNED  
HOW TO SKATE AT MOODY 
PARK ARENA

694
YOUTH AND ADULT 
VOLUNTEERS SUPPORTED 
SPECIAL EVENTS PRODUCED 
BY THE CITY 

2,500 
CENTURY HOUSE 
ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIPS 
REACHING AN ALL-TIME HIGH 

Services and Program 
Initiatives

Implemented a new online 
registration and booking software 
for the management of programs, 
services, and spaces

Through the Parks and Recreation 
Department, the City hosted a  
wide range of special events 
including the New West Grand Prix 
with over 4,000 visitors, 200 
professional cyclists, 130 volunteers 
and $15,000 in prizes

The “Meeting in the Middle’ 
program initiative featured youth 
and seniors working together on 
projects including the arts, 
technology, culinary arts, and 
community service

Accomplishments 

Facilities

Commenced design for the 
replacement facility for the Queen’s 
Park  Arenex

Completed design and  
began construction on the Queen's 
Park concession and washroom 

Parks

Commenced preliminary planning 
and public consultation for the 
future westward expansion of 
Westminster Pier Park

Completed design and commenced 
construction on the new skate park 
in Queen’s Park

Proposed concept for the New Westminster Aquatics and Community Centre
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2017 2018 % change 
18-17

2017
(per 1000)

2018
(per 1000)

% change 18-17
(per 1000)

Total Calls for Service 21857 22569 3% 291.2 295.4 1%

Criminal Code

1000-Persons (Violent) Offenses 600 576 -4% 8.0 7.5 -6%

2000-Property Crime 2972 3448 16% 39.6 45.1 14%

3000-Other Crime 781 871 12% 10.4 11.4 10%

Total Criminal Code 4353 4895 12% 58.0 64.1 10%

1000-Persons (Violent) Offenses

Homicide 1 0 -100% 0.0 0.0 -100%

Murder-Attempted 0 0 - 0.0 0.0 -

Sexual Assault 34 22 -35% 0.5 0.3 -36%

Assault-Common/Trespass 210 222 6% 2.8 2.9 4%

Robbery 36 27 -25% 0.5 0.4 -26%

2000-Property Crime

Break & Enter Business 178 193 8% 2.4 2.5 7%

Break & Enter Residence 81 110 36% 1.1 1.4 33%

Break & Enter Other 57 102 79% 0.8 1.3 76%

Motor Vehicle Theft 229 225 -2% 3.1 2.9 -3%

Theft from Motor Vehicle 718 1036 44% 9.6 13.6 42%

Theft-Other >$5000 9 17 89% 0.1 0.2 86%

Theft-Other <$5000 453 481 6% 6.0 6.3 4%

Mischief $5000 or Under 483 451 -7% 6.4 5.9 -8%

Fraud Related 356 386 8% 4.7 5.1 7%

3000-Other Crime

Breach/Bail Violation 162 134 -17% 2.2 1.8 -19%

Breach Probation-Adult 120 118 -2% 1.6 1.5 -3%

Cause a Disturbance 387 476 23% 5.2 6.2 21%

Counterfeiting Currency 18 14 -22% 0.2 0.2 -24%

Indecent Act/Exposure 15 23 53% 0.2 0.3 51%

25%
REDUCTION IN ROBBERY RELATED 
SERVICE CALLS SINCE 2017

263
FALSE ALARMS

22,569
TOTAL CALLS FOR SERVICE

Police
The New Westminster Police Department provides  
a range of services including first-response, traffic 
enforcement, domestic violence response, forensic  
crime analysis, intelligence services, crime prevention,  
and victim services. Through the committed efforts  
of uniformed and civilian staff, along with volunteers  
and members of the Police Board, New Westminster 
 remains a vibrant and safe community.

Accomplishments

Launched online Police Information 
Checks, allowing residents to get 
their employment or volunteer Police 
Information Checks without having 
to attend the police department

Partnered with community 
organizations to host events, 
including NWPD Youth Basketball 
Classic, Cooking with Cops, and 
Coffee with Cops, allowing us to 
meet face to face with residents to 
hear about their concerns and share 
crime prevention tips

Looking Forward

In 2019, we will expand our 
services to include online reporting 
and will introduce e-ticketing. 
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Human Resources
The mission of the Human Resources Department is to support and enhance the activities and 
employees of the City and to maintain the integrity, quality of service, and the value of labour.

168
JOB POSTINGS IN 2018

75%
INCREASE IN JOB POSTINGS 
OVER THE PAST FIVE YEARS

Accomplishments

Implemented a management skills 
development program designed to 
support managers and supervisors 
in effectively managing and leading 
their work teams

Implemented a mental health and 
resiliency training program to support 
the mental health, well-being and 
productivity of employees

Provided respectful workplace 
refresher training for staff  
to support a positive, diverse, 
productive and respectful 
workplace free from discrimination 
and harassment

Created and updated a number  
of corporate policies to enhance 
organizational effectiveness

21DEPARTMENTAL RE VIEWS
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331
REPAIRED STREET  
LIGHTS (INCREASED  
BY 10% FROM 2017)

25km
TOTAL FIBRE BUILD–OUT 
FOR BRIDGENET TO DATE

748
NEW ELECTRIC METRES 
INSTALLED

55
RESPONSES TO UNPLANNED 
POWER OUTAGES AND 73 TO 
SCHEDULED POWER OUTAGES

668
EXISTING METRES TESTED

162
TRAFFIC LIGHT  
PROBLEMS (INCREASED  
BY 231% FROM 2017)

Accomplishments

Electrical Operations

Completed the installation of new 
primary high voltage cable across 
the Queensborough bridge

Prepared underground conduit and 
high voltage primary cable design 
from the NWR substation to Royal 
Columbian Hospital in order to 
connect their new energy centre

Installed New Westminster’s  
first community urban solar  
garden at the Queensborough 
Community Centre

Electrical Services

Installed nine pedestrian signals 
and refurbished a number of traffic 
intersections 

Electric Utility
New Westminster Electric Utility, in partnership with the community, strives to enhance 
quality of life, support sustainable development, and protect the environment. Supporting the 
City’s vision of being an innovative leader in the provision of service and a trusted partner 
with its customers, the utility maintains its commitment to being BC’s Best Electric Utility.

Looking Forward

Priority work in 2019 will be 
completing the installation of the two 
remaining high voltage cables going 
across Queensborough Bridge, as 
well as completing the installation 
of conduit and then pulling almost 9km 
of cable for the new RCH Energy Centre. 
Installation of a second urban solar 
garden is planned at the Engineering 
and Electrical Operations Yard. 

Looking Forward

The Human Resources Department 
will continue to provide high quality 
human resource services in support 
of the City’s strategic goals and 
business needs by ensuring that the 
organization is fully equipped for 
success. We will continue to build a 
high performing workforce and 
operating culture that is based on 
the values of diversity, collaboration, 
innovation and service excellence. 
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Office of the CAO 

Administration 
Department 
Reviews
The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) oversees 
all City departments, the City’s corporate 
priorities, the Communications Division, the 
Economic Development Office, Anvil Centre 
Conference Centre, and Cultural Services. 
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Communications 
Division

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Oversaw the marketing and 
promotion of the of the new  
Parks and Recreation online 
registration system

Provided communication and 
consultation support for the  
New Westminster Aquatics and 
Community Centre project

Implemented social media 
governance guidelines to city staff

LOOKING FORWARD

In 2019, the Communications 
Division will continue to explore  
and implement new tactics and 
educational tools to promote  
City initiatives and projects, such  
as video, digital advertising, and 
targeted campaigns. Communication 
and consultation support will be 
provided to the next phase of 
engagement for the New Westminster 
Aquatics and Community Centre 
project, as well as providing support 
for the New West City 101 youth 
engagement program.

Intelligent  
New West

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Updated Intelligent New West (INW) 
Strategic Plan approved by Council

ICAC co-chair and former Councillor 
Bill Harper recognized by Public 
Sector Digest with an Open City 
Champion Award for leadership in 
open data and transparency for 2018

LOOKING FORWARD

The 2019 INW Operations Plan  
is focusing on initiatives that 
facilitate and support technology 
advances that will drive knowledge 
workforce growth in the city,  
for example collaborating more 
with existing partners such as  
New Westminster Schools in 
support of digital learning. There 
will be an enhanced focus on 
increasing digital intelligence and 
transparency with the City’s Open 
Data platform and continued 
expansion of e-government services.

Economic 
Development

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Completed the new Economic 
Development Plan 

Completed the updated Intelligent 
New West Strategic Plan

LOOKING FORWARD

With these two new plans the 
Economic Development Office  
will be implementing the policies, 
strategies and projects that 
diversify and strengthen New 
Westminster’s economic base  
for the long term while growing  
a positive business environment.  
By focusing on promoting New 
West’s competitive advantages  
and growth in the targeted business 
sectors of education, health-care, 
and tech and creative, the City can 
nurture a resilient and sustainable 
local economy. 
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Office of the CAO 
Anvil Centre 
Conference & 
Theatre Services
Anvil Centre’s fourth full year of operations 
continued to see significant increases in conference 
events, including conferences, meetings, gala events,  
consumer shows, AGMs, film shoots, theatre 
performances, dance performances, and other theatre  
activities. As the theatre performances continue  
to increase, Anvil Theatre is developing an audience 
base of return audience members. Anvil Centre 
Conferences has developed a client base of return 
events, many with multiple event dates.

Conference Services

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Over 750 activities (performances, 
events, programs, conferences, 
exhibitions, tours, etc.) were 
booked in Anvil Centre in 2018

Anvil Centre overall generated over 
$2M in revenue

LOOKING FORWARD

Conference Services continues to 
develop their client base with the 
goal of continued growth of multi-
day events and repeat clients.

Theatre Services

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

90+ performances took place  
in the Anvil Centre Theatre

2018 was a year of forming new 
relationships, increasing public 
programming and audience 
development. Community partnered 
programs such as the Winter 
Celebration, showcased local 
performers and the Arts Club Series 
saw significant growth of the 
established audience base.
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26,000 
RECORD  ATTENDANCE 
FOR THE LEGO EXHIBITION 
PEOPLE GOTTA MOVE

45,228 
TOTAL MUSEUM ATTENDANCE 
FOR THE YEAR

Museums, Archives 
& Heritage Services

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Curated and developed three 
in-house and nine off-site exhibitions 
through the support of 53 community 
groups and individual

Delivery of 166 educational 
activities specifically designed to 
engage in the cultural heritage of  
our city, 6,771 attendees of all ages 
benefitted from these activities

LOOKING FORWARD

The New Westminster Museum  
and Archives will continue to grow 
upon its mandate to engage the 
community through stories and 
conversations that connect 
members of our city to on another. 
Specifically the NWMA will focus 
on leading conversations in support 
of New Westminster’s interest in 
reconciling its past relationships 
with indigenous communities.

Arts  
Services

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Ran 126 registered programs  
in 2018 with 1,095 participants 
taking part

Worked with many local 
organizations and contributed to a 
variety of initiatives throughout 
2018 including Capture Photography 
Festival, Children’s Fest, Canada Day 
celebrations, New West Culture Crawl, 
LitFest New West, and Family Day

Hosted five Artists in Residence/
Solid Waste & Recycling Artists  
in Residence

Showcased 101 artists in the 
Community Art Space over the 
course of seven exhibitions

LOOKING FORWARD

Arts Services is looking forward to 
putting into action key elements of 
the newly completed arts strategy 
with support from the New West 
arts community and the City in the 
year ahead.

New Media  
Gallery

ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Four world-class exhibitions (Corpus, 
Trace, Gyre, Reclaim) featuring 17 
multi-award-winning artists from 
11 countries with a focus on 
superior visitor engagement for 
about 28,000 people.

New Media Gallery STEAM 
Education with development of the 
Learning Lab, a state-of-the-art 
teaching space, benefitting almost 
3,000 students from Kindergarten 
to Grade 12 and university students.

Office of the CAO 
Cultural Services
Cultural Services aspires to enrich quality of life by providing 
and facilitating diverse cultural experiences through the arts, 
museums, art galleries, archives, heritage, and events. Culture 
plays a vital role in the social, economic, environmental, 
physical, and mental wellbeing of our city.



Engineering 
Services
Engineering Services is responsible for planning, building, 
operating and maintaining the city’s essential infrastructure 
comprising of all roads, sidewalks, drainage and sewage 
collection systems, water distribution system, solid waste 
and recycling collection, and civic buildings. Engineering 
Services also provides animal control, parking management, 
environmental service and operates the City cemetery.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

Looking Forward

In 2019, we will work very closely with 
partner agencies to plan and design 
projects such as the Pattullo Bridge 
replacement, improvements to the 
Brunette Interchange, expansion of 
the Royal Columbia Hospital, and 
construction of the New Westminster 
Senior Secondary School.

Significant capital projects include 
completion of the new Animal 
Services facility and a new Sportsplex 
in Queen’s Park. Work will also 
continue on our railway crossing 
program to improve safety and 
introduce whistle cessation at several 
locations including Quayside Drive, 
20th Street, and Cumberland Street.

We will also conclude a comprehensive 
Downtown Transportation Plan 
which will address pedestrian 
safety, livability and connectivity in 
the downtown and will complete 
final design for the Rotary Crosstown 
Greenway between Eighth and Fifth 
Streets. Traffic control at all 
elementary and middle schools will 
be reviewed in the city to ensure 
alignment with current best practices.

In addition, a new ten year corporate 
energy and emissions plan will be 
prepared for Council’s consideration 
which will lead to energy saving 
improvements to City facilities and 
buildings, and transitioning of the 
City fleet to alternative fuel and 
electric vehicles.
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2,100m
OF REHABILITATED 
SEWER MAINS

40
RENEWED SEWER 
SERVICE CONNECTIONS

390m
OF CONSTRUCTED SEWER 
FORCE MAINS IN 
QUEENSBOROUGH

900m
OF INSTALLED WATER 
MAINS

578
STREET OCCUPANCY 
PERMITS ISSUED FOR 
WORKS OCCURRING ON 
CITY STREETS, SIDEWALKS, 
AND BOULEVARDS

6.8km
OF PAVED ROADWAYS

6,131m2

OF ASPHALT WAS  
USED TO REPAIR ROADS 
AND PATHS

1,432m
OF REPAIRED/
REHABILITATED SIDEWALK

1,733
TONNES OF CURBSIDE 
RECYCLING

RECYCLING & ORGANICS 
DIVERTED FROM THE 
LANDFILL IN 2018:

3,632
TONNES OF CURBSIDE 
YARD & FOOD SCRAPS

46%
OF ORGANIC MATERIAL  
AND 22% OF RECYCLABLE 
MATERIAL

60
FLEET VEHICLES 
CONVERTED TO DUAL FUEL 
PROPANE CONTRIBUTING  
TO A REDUCTION OF APPROX. 
100 TONNES OF GHG 
EMISSIONS

450
TRANSPORTATION ACTION 
REQUESTS INVESTIGATED  
AND RESPONDED TO
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Accomplishments

Transportation

Delivered accessibility 
awareness training to more 
than 40 Engineering 
Department staff

Delivered Transportation 
Forum as part of Innovation 
Week, focusing on new mobility 
and implications for local 
municipalities 

Installed new curb ramps along 
Sixth Avenue in Uptown to a 
more modern standard of 
design, to better serve people 
with vision loss or blindness

Infrastructure Planning

Completed energy and emission 
assessment of civic buildings

Coordinated the servicing of 
developments including major 
projects such as Royal 
Columbian Hospital Phase 1, 
Pier West, Animal Shelter, 
NWSS, and various affordable 
housing projects 

Launched a pilot water 
consumption monitoring study 
for the single family sector

Design and Construction

Completed phase 3 of  
Ewen Avenue Streetscape 
Improvement Project 

Completion of Braid Street 
Greenway Phase One

Pedestrian crossing 
improvements at seven 
intersections 

Completed phase 2  
of the Sapperton Sewer 
Separation Program

Engineering Operations 

60 fleet vehicles converted to 
dual fuel propane contributing 
to a reduction of approximately 
100 tonnes of GHG emissions

The New Westminster Animal 
Shelter found new forever 
homes for 20 dogs, 111 cats 
and 18 small animals 

Curbside collection diverted 
22% of recyclable material and 
46% of organic material from 
the landfill



Looking Forward

In 2019, members will participate  
in a US/Canada Cross Border 
Dangerous Goods Rail Exercise to 
test inter-operable communications 
between US and Canada and 
tracking of personnel and resources 
and facilitating large scale 
evacuation orders. 

A number of members will also be 
furthering their education through 
the Fire Executive Management 
Program facilitated by BCIT. We will 
be adopting the Supra Lockbox 
Program, enabling emergency first 
responders to enter community 
buildings and large residential 
occupancies in a timely manner 
and with no damage being incurred. 
We will also be involved with 
developing a therapy dog program  
to support mental health resiliency 
for department members. 

Responses
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Accomplishments

Along with Engineering Operations 
staff, members were deployed with 
the Mobile Command Unit to the 
Shovel Lake wildfire in summer 2018

Conducted a dangerous goods 
exercise with Southern Rail, CP, CN, 
Rail Association of Canada, NWPD, 
Delta Police Department, BC 
Ambulance Service, E-Comm 9-1-1 
and Transport Canada, allowing 
participants to test current 
response concepts, plans and 
capabilities when responding to a 
rail line dangerous goods incident 
in New Westminster

Members attended the Canadian 
Mental Health Association Resilient 
Minds training course aimed at 
building resiliency and providing 
education specifically designed for 
emergency first responders attending 
traumatic events 

City of New Westminster Emergency 
Management acquired satellite 
equipment to provide cellular, Wi-Fi, 
LTE, LAN/WAN service to be utilized 
during a wide area network failure 
ensuring we remain connected to 
emergency communications
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Fire & Rescue 
Services
New Westminster Fire and Rescue Services protects life, 
property and the environment through effective emergency 
management, fire and life safety education, fire code 
enforcement inspections, and by responding to emergencies. 
In addition to fire suppression, rescue service and emergency 
medical services, other roles include working with our 
community emergency service partners, developing the youth 
firefighter program and providing community outreach.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT

Alarm Activated/ 
No Fire 748

Explosion 1

Fire 189

Haz-Mat 52

Medical 2597

MVI 358

Public Hazard 44

Public Service 539

Response – Other 553

Specialized 
Transportation 1

Tech Rescue 3

Total 5085



2018 ANNUAL REPORT

33DEPARTMENTAL RE VIEWS

Library
The New Westminster Public Library supports lifelong 
learning and literacy through print and digital collections, 
information assistance, and a wide range of programs for 
adults, teens and children. 

The library is committed to ensuring that New Westminster 
residents are connected to technology and digital information 
through free public internet stations, Wi-Fi, and an extensive 
collection of digital resources. In both our Uptown and 
Queensborough branches, the library provides a safe and 
welcoming space to read, study, plug-in, learn, and be part  
of the community. 
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STRATEGIC INITIATIVE

Upgrades

DESCRIPTION 
Constructed in 1958 and expanded  
in 1978, the New Westminster Public 
Library plays an essential role  
in the community and has served 
generations of residents since 
opening its doors. As the community 
has grown and new services and 
offerings have been added, so too 
have the number of library users. An 
upgrade to essential infrastructure 
will extend the life of the building 
and is critical to ensuring library 
staff can continue to provide the 
excellent service the community 
has come to expect while enhancing 
the overall library experience  
and appeal. To address this need, 
planning, consultation, design and 
construction on an upgraded facility 
advanced in 2018.

STATUS 
In January, we began a 16 month 
renovation project to the main 
branch of the library, with 
construction work being done  
while library continued to serve  
the community. The final phase of 
renovations will take five weeks with 
reopening expected on April 1, 2019.

Renovation Highlights

Public Services and 
Technology

New reading lounge on the  
main floor

New teen space near  
the children’s department

New technology lab on the  
second floor

Additional study space

Creation of a new meeting room  
on the second floor

Built-in audio visual equipment  
in all meeting rooms

Environmental

Replacement of original  
single-pane windows and skylights

Installation of energy efficient 
lighting throughout the building 

Accessibility

Installation of automatic doors  
on all internal doors

Accessible washrooms on the  
lower level

Infrastructure

Upgrading the electrical transformer

Replacing ducting and ceilings

Asbestos removal



City Partnership Grants
1.  Communities Embracing Restorative 

Action Society (CERA)

2.  Family Services of New Westminster

3. Fraser River Discovery Centre

4. Massey Theatre

5. New West Hospice Society

6.  New Westminster Chamber of Commerce

7.  New Westminster Tourism and 
Convention Development Association

8.  New Westminster Victim Assistance 
Association

9.  New Westminster Homelessness 
Coalition Society 

10. Senior Services Society of BC

11.  Elizabeth Fry Society of  
Greater Vancouver

12. Arts Council of New West

13.  Fraserside Community Services Society 

14.  Downtown New Westminster BIA 

15.  Royal City Musical Theatre Society 

17.  New Westminster Symphony Society 

18. Royal City Humane Society

Total Awarded:

$481,218

Community Grants
1. Camp Kerry Society

2.  Canadian Lacrosse Hall of Fame

3.  Community Volunteer Connections 
Society - Fraser North

4. Hyack Festival Association 

5.  McLauren Centre for  
Multi-Cultural Ministries

6.  New Westminster Amateur Radio Club 

7. New West Family Place 

8.  New Westminster Firefighters Society

9.  New Westminster Lawn Bowling Club

10. New Westminster Lions Club

11.  New Westminster Youth  
Ambassador Society

12.  Richard McBride Elementary School

13.  School District No. 40 (New Westminster)

14. Spare Parts Adventure 

15.  Pacific Volunteer Education and 
Assistance Team for Animals Society

16. Wings Fellowship Ministries 

Total Awarded:

$48,286
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Festival Grants
1. African Canadian Soccer and  

Cultural Association 

2. Arts Council of New Westminster

3. Brazilian Community Association of BC

4. Centre of Integration for African 
Immigrants

5. Downtown New Westminster Business 
Improvement Association 

6. Junior Enterprise

7. Khalsa Diwan Society New Westminster

8. New West Farmers Market Society

9. New West Hospice Society

10. New West Pride Society

11. New Westminster Hyack  
Festival Association

12. New Westminster Philippine  
Festival Society

13. New Westminster School District

14. Queensborough Special  
Programs Committee

15. Queensborough Special  
Programs Committee

16. Recovery Day BC Society

17. Sapperton Merchants Association

18. Uptown Business Association

Total Awarded:

$248,100

2018 City Grants
Amateur 
Sports Grants
1. Burnaby/New West Ringette

2. Hyack Swim Club

3.  New Westminster  
Baseball Association

4.  New Westminster Minor  
Hockey Association

5.  New Westminster Minor 
Lacrosse Association

6.  New Westminster Minor  
Softball Association

7.  New Westminster Spartans 
Track and Field Club

8.  Royal City Track and Field Society

9. Royal City Youth Soccer Club

10.  Shasta Trampoline  
Booster Society

Arts and Culture 
Grants
1. Douglas College Foundation

2. Federation of BC Writers

3. New West Film Society

4.  New Westminster  
Community Choir

5.  Queen's Park  
Healthcare Foundation

6.  Queensborough Special 
Programs Committee

7.  Schools Out Productions and 
New Westminster Secondary 
Musical Theatre Program

8.  Story Money Impact Foundation

9. The Maple Leaf Singers

10.  Royal City Literary Arts Society

11. Vancouver Tagore Society

12. Up Close Recital Society

Total Awarded:

$31,500

Total Awarded:

$30,000

Heritage Grants
1.  The Spirit of the Children 

Society - National Aboriginal Day

2.  The Ancient and Honourable 
Hyack Anvil Battery - Victoria 
Day Salute

3.  New Westminster  
Heritage Foundation 

4.  The Royal Westminster 
Regiment Volunteer Band

Environmental 
Grants
1.  Burns Bog Conservation Society

2.  New Westminster 
Environmental Partners

3.  Queensborough Special 
Programs Committee

4.  RSBC Rivershed Society of 
British Columbia

5. Voices of Nature Society

Child Care Grants
1.  Douglas College Early  

Childhood Centre

2. Glenbrooke Daycare Society

3.  Golden Sunshine  
Daycare Society

4.  Kolumbia Inn Daycare Society

5.  Queen’s Avenue Daycare Society

6.  St. Barnabas Daycare Society

7.  Westminster Children's After 
School Society

Total Awarded:

$24,922

Total Awarded:

$20,000

Total Awarded:

$32,386
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Canada Games Pool and Centennial Community  
Centre Redevelopment

Community Livability & Social Equity, Catalyst Project

DESCRIPTION 
The Canada Games Pool and the Centennial Community 
Centre opened in 1973 and 1967, respectively. Many of 
the facilities’ building systems and components are 
approaching, or at, the end of their normal service life. 

The CCC/CGP redevelopment project envisions the 
replacement of the existing pool and community centre 
with a newly constructed integrated facility that provides 
opportunities for aquatics, health and fitness programs 
and services, and community recreation spaces to 
support the recreational and competitive aspiration of 
local residents, employees of local business, and visitors 
to the community.

STATUS 
Public engagement to gather input and feedback on the 
proposed program or the future facilities that was 
identified through the feasibility study occurred January 
– April, 2018. Council has directed staff to pursue, in 
parallel, the development of two design options. The first 
is the community recreation facility developed initially 
through the community engagement process, and the 
second includes enhanced features to augment  
the competition hosting capabilities of the pool. The 
selection of the final preferred design option will be 
influenced by the availability of significant grant funding. 
The City is pursuing senior government grant funding from 
the Canada-BC Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program. 

The project continues to advance with the construction 
phase anticipated to commence early in 2020.

Affordable Housing Projects

Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
In January of 2015, the Mayor’s Task Force on Housing 
Affordability was established with the goal of increasing 
livability of the city by working with key partners to 
develop affordable housing projects that meet the needs 
of an identified group of people (e.g., families, seniors) 
with low to moderate incomes as a high priority.

STATUS 
Two small sites affordable housing projects, 43 Hastings 
Street and 630 Ewen Avenue, have received all necessary 
approvals with subjects being removed related to lease 
and purchase and sale agreements. Ground breaking 
ceremonies for both projects were held in spring 2018. 
City staff reviewed four sites with potential for a possible 
modular housing project to address homelessness. 
Based on this review, Council directed staff to initiate a 
development approvals process for 838 Ewen Avenue. 
This process has been concluded, with the Public Hearing 
being held on June 26, 2018, and occupancy is expected 
by the end of 2019. Additionally, City staff, as directed by 
the Mayor’s Task Force on Housing Affordability, will 
review City-owned sites with potential for small-scale 
affordable housing projects. The City is also developing a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with BC Housing, 
which will set out the proposed partnership between the 
two parties in the development of non-market and 
affordable housing sites to support the mandate of the 
Mayors Task Force on Housing Affordability.

2015–2018 
Capital Project Initiative Status
COMMUNITY LIVABILITY & SOCIAL EQUITY

ENVIRONMENTAL LEADERSHIP

VIBRANT ECONOMY 

ARTS AND CULTURE

CATALYST PROJECTS AND INITIATIVES

ORGANIZATIONAL EXCELLENCE
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Intelligent City Fibre Optic Network

Community Livability & Social Equity, Vibrant Economy, 
Catalyst Project

DESCRIPTION 
Affordable access to broadband connectivity is critical 
for facilitating local business growth, innovation  
and productivity. A key component of the City of New 
Westminster’s “Intelligent City” initiative is the 
development of an open access “dark” fibre network (i.e.,  
a fibre optic that is available to multiple users) connecting 
commercial districts throughout the city and being made 
available to telecommunications companies and internet 
service providers (ISPs) for connecting multi-family 
residences, local businesses and institutions to high 
speed broadband service. In early 2015, Council approved  
a business plan that will see dark fibre connectivity  
to Uptown, Downtown, Sapperton, 12th Street and 
Queensborough business districts. 

STATUS 
Phases I and II of the Fibre Optic Network are complete, 
with 65% of Downtown’s phase 3 and 10% of the Uptown 
Network complete. Co-location facilities are also now 
completed. Currently, ten service providers have signed 
agreements with the City, with the latest being Zayo and 
Astute Internet. Twenty-nine buildings, as well as eight 
businesses, Douglas College, and the Justice Institute, 
are now all connected to the fibre network.

City Hall Upgrades

Organizational Excellence

DESCRIPTION  
As the city has grown, so too have the services we offer 
to meet the needs of the community. Over the years, 
departments have had to re-locate in other buildings 
throughout the city, creating barriers to collaboration and 
work flow. To facilitate “one stop” service and ensure city 
services offered to the public continue to be performed 
in an efficient manner, necessary renovations are being 
made to City Hall.

STATUS 
City Hall upgrades are currently in the construction phase. 
The first phase of the renovations will be focused on  
the basement level of the east side of the building.  
The upgrades include new offices for Human Resources,  
a new IT training room, a new meeting room for staff and 
public committee meetings, and a new south entrance.  
In the second phase, the former Human Resources space 
on the main floor west side will be refurbished and Parks 
and Recreation administration will move into the existing 
offices. A seismic upgrade will be undertaken for the 
basement level east side.

Commercial Recycling 

Environmental Leadership

DESCRIPTION  
In order to achieve aggressive regional targets to divert 
70% of the region’s waste from landfill, the City introduced 
several new organics and recycling initiatives. While the 
City has achieved great success in the residential sector, 
the Industrial, Commercial and Institutional (ICI) sector 
have largely relied on private waste collectors and the 
City’s Recycling Depot for access to recycling options. 
Metro Vancouver’s findings from a 2015 waste flow study 
identify the ICI sector as an area where improvement is 
necessary to meet regional waste diversion targets

STATUS  
Staff are continuing to liaise with the business 
community while currently reviewing the equipment  
and staff resource requirements of the Solid Waste and 
Recycling Branch that would be needed to support 
expansion of the City's existing commercial recycling  
and organics collection services. The solid waste utility 
budget, which Council passed in 2018, approves the 
procurement of additional collection equipment and 
recruiting additional full-time staff, in order to support 
the growth and successful operation of the City's existing 
commercial recycling and organics collection services.
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STATUS 

Staff continued to implement 
the actions and policies  
as outlined in the Master 
Transportation Plan.  
Actions in 2018 included:

•   Advancing design and railway 
crossing requirements for the 
final phase of the Braid Street 
section of Brunette Fraser 
Regional Greenway

•   Partnering with Fraser 
Health, New West Schools, 
and Walkers Caucus to deliver 
Walk New West and the 
Walking Challenge

•   Continuing to install missing 
curb letdowns, wheelchair 
landing pads at bus stops, 
bus shelters, and sidewalk 
spot improvements throughout 
the city

•   Continuing to implement 
recommendations from the 
2016 Intersection Safety Study

•   Completing a Queen’s Park 
Traffic Calming review

•   Completing the Sapperton 
and Massey-Victory Heights 
Transportation Plan

•   Advancing work on the 
Downtown Strategic 
Transportation Plan

•   Through development and 
rezoning applications, 
securing improvements for 
walking, transit, and cycling 
as part of the conditions  
for development

DESCRIPTION 
The City’s Master 
Transportation Plan 
outlines policies and actions 
in support of sustainable 
transportation system. This 
initiative will develop an 
implementation strategy 
for advancing the plan’s 
objectives, including:

Community Livability & Social Equity, Vibrant Economy

Enhancing the  
cycling network

Enhancing the 
transit network

Promoting  
great streets

Managing  
roads

Managing  
goods management

Promoting livable 
neighbourhoods

Enhancing the  
pedestrian network

2018 ANNUAL REPORT

SUSTAINABLE  
TRANSPORTATION

STR ATEGIC INITIATIVES 41STR ATEGIC INITIATIVES40



and class B cost estimate study and seeking funding 
partners for the project.

The City has worked with Metro Vancouver to open the 
Brunette Fraser Regional Greenway section between 
Cumberland and Spruce Streets.

The initial phase of Braid Street section of the Brunette 
Fraser Regional Greenway (BFRG) through the Braid 
Industrial Area has been completed and the remaining 
phase is scheduled to be completed in 2019.

An advocacy and fundraising strategy has been prepared 
for seeking funding from Metro Vancouver, TransLink, 
senior governments and the private sector.

Whistle Cessation 

Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
As New Westminster has grown, the whistling of trains 
traversing through has created conflicts with residential 
areas and impacted local quality of life. To address this, 
the City has been working with the railways on a whistle 
cessation plan which involves necessary upgrades to 
railway crossings to strike a balance between the need  
to ensure safety for road users and residents’ peace  
and quiet.

STATUS  
Whistle cessation work is continuing across the city. 
Cessation is in place at the downtown crossings  
located at Begbie Street and Fourth Street, with partial 
overnight cessation achieved at the 20th Street 
crossing. An MOU has been finalized with Southern 
Railway of BC (SRY) and work is proceeding on the 
designs for a number of the Queensborough crossings. 
The required upgrades have been completed at the 
Quayside and Port Royal pedestrian crossings and the 
City is actively working with SRY to finalize the whistle 
cessation and crossing agreements.

STATUS 
Initial DES piping design around RCH is complete. 
Drafted Class B (+/-15%) estimate RFP, which will be 
issued upon confirmation of site for the renewable 
energy centre. Discussions are ongoing with Fraser 
Health Authority (FHA) regarding an MOU on connecting 
RCH to the system and with a definitive agreement on 
energy pricing. The business case has been updated  
to consider impacts of new BC Energy Step Code, floor 
space projections, construction costs, and commodity 
prices on financial model and project phasing.

The Riverfront

Community Livability & Social Equity, Catalyst Project

DESCRIPTION 
New Westminster’s riverfront stretches through local 
parks, industrial zones and commercial areas and forms 
an integral part of the Brunette Fraser River Greenway. 
While residents and visitors from across the Lower 
Mainland come to New Westminster to experience all 
that the city’s riverfront has to offer, a lack of continuity 
and connectivity prevents people from travelling along it 
unimpeded from one end of the city to the other. The City 
is working to advance completion of riverfront continuity 
between Canfor and Brunette Avenues as well as 
between Sapperton Landing and Westminster Pier 
Parks, in addition to improving connectivity at a number 
of locations such as Sapperton SkyTrain Station. The 
work involves examination of required rights of way and 
properties along with the development of feasible and 
cost-effective engineering concepts, public consultation 
on concepts and amenities, and fundraising to leverage 
available Development Assistance Compensation (DAC) 
funding to finance the connection. The end result will 
deliver a riverfront park and greenway network with 
animation activities that support both recreation and 
transportation uses while completing an important 
component of the Experience the Fraser trail network 
from Hope to the Salish Sea.

STATUS  
The Mayor’s Task Force on the Riverfront and the  
Public Realm has completed a work plan for the period 
from 2017–2019.

A conceptual design and Class C (+/- 25%) cost estimate 
has been prepared for a floating greenway connection 
between Westminster Pier Park and Sapperton Landing 
Park, which has been endorsed by Council and staff are 
developing the terms of reference for a detailed design 

Q to Q Pilot Ferry Service

Community Livability & Social Equity, Catalyst Project

DESCRIPTION 
A direct pedestrian and bicycle link between the Quayside 
and Queensborough neighbourhoods is a long-standing 
City and Metro Vancouver priority, connecting a large 
number of local and regional destinations, including 
high-density residential and employment centres, and 
providing better access to frequent transit service. The 
Q2Q Bridge was originally conceived to enhance livability 
and community health through improved connectivity  
to available amenities on both sides of the river, while 
driving increased economic development and tourism 
opportunities in New Westminster. As the estimated cost 
to implement the Q2Q bridge increased beyond the City’s 
capacity to fund it, the Q to Q Ferry service was launched 
to provide an alternative connection.

STATUS 
A full scale, fully accessible, pilot ferry service launched 
on May 19, 2018, providing daily service for people of all 
ages and abilities, including wheelchairs, strollers, 
bicycles and pets, to connect people between Port Royal 
and the Quay. The ferry service has been a great success, 
operating daily throughout the balance of the year.  
More than 60,000 individual passenger trips were made. 
The pilot ferry service was originally scheduled to run 
until October 2018, but due to popular demand the pilot 
service was extended, and will continue to run indefinitely. 
Information collected during this pilot project is being 
used to inform a business plan for continued passenger 
ferry service. 

Sapperton District Energy System (DES)

Environmental Leadership & Catalyst Project

DESCRIPTION 
The City of New Westminster is committed to reducing  
its carbon footprint and being a sustainable community.  
To introduce a source of clean renewable energy at 
competitive prices while reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions (GHGs), the City is investigating the technical 
and economic feasibility of a neighbourhood-scale energy 
system serving the Sapperton area. The Sapperton District 
Energy System would provide clean, renewable energy  
at stable and competitive prices to the consumer. The 
expansion of the Royal Columbian Hospital (RCH) campus 
provides the new system with a large potential customer 
base and brings with it the added benefit of connecting  
to other buildings in the heating network over time.

New Animal Shelter, Tow Yard, Dog Park Relocation

Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
As New Westminster grows, so does the need for 
infrastructure essential to provision of municipal services. 
The New Westminster Animal Shelter in Queensborough 
plays an important role in providing refuge for animals 
without a home. The current facility was constructed in 
1986 and is no longer conducive to disease containment 
and proper housing given the number of animals  
received by the City. A new animal shelter designed  
to accommodate best practices in animal welfare will 
be constructed in tandem with a new City tow yard  
and community off-leash dog area. The animal shelter 
and tow yard will be co-located to ensure that we are  
able to respond to the needs of our growing community.  
Public consultation in 2017 helped to inform the preferred 
location of a new community off-leash dog area.

STATUS 
Construction of the animal services facility has 
commenced and the piled foundations have been completed. 
Detailed design of the tow yard has been initiated and is 
located adjacent to the animal services facility. 

Massey Theatre and NWSS Redevelopment

Arts and Culture & Catalyst Project

DESCRIPTION 
After provincial approval, the redevelopment of a New 
Westminster Secondary School (NWSS) is underway and 
the City of New Westminster is working in collaboration 
with Partnerships BC, the Ministry of Education and the 
School District to advance the new high school as part of 
a larger civic precinct that includes the school, Massey 
Theatre, Moody Park Arena, multi-use paths, playing 
fields and a memorialized area to recognize the history of 
the site. It is intended that the City will obtain ownership 
of the Massey Theatre after the new high school is built 
and undertake renovations to the theatre to create a 
signature local and regional performing arts centre.

STATUS 
Council has approved a resolution to retain the Massey 
Theatre based on the Ministry and School District gifting 
land and theatre to the City. Initiation of renovations for 
theatre tied to construction schedule for NWSS. 

Ministry approved funding for a new secondary school in 
June 2016 and the planned opening is in fall 2020.

School site construction has begun and will be in two 
phases; the first phase is to construct a new school, new 
access roads and parking, the second phase will remove 
the existing school and memorialize former burial sites.
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2015–2018 

Planning and Policy Initiative Status

IDEA Centre and RCH Redevelopment

Community Livability & Social Equity, Vibrant Economy

DESCRIPTION 
Situated at the centre of Metro Vancouver and serviced 
by two of New Westminster’s five SkyTrain stations, the 
Economic Health Care Cluster (EHCC), known as the 
IDEA Centre, will transform the precinct surrounding 
RCH into an integrated collection of health and 
technology businesses, organizations, and entrepreneurs. 
By supporting the anticipated growth in health care and 
technology, New Westminster can play a critical role in 
the delivery of improved health care for citizens and the 
creation of a research and innovation network that 
supports strong economic growth and opportunity.

STATUS 
The Province has announced funding for phases 1, 2 and 
3 of the Royal Columbian Hospital (RCH). Construction is 
underway on Phase 1 with a 2019 completion date and 
redevelopment and planning is underway for all future 
phases of the hospital. Implementation has begun on 
immediate actions identified in the IDEA Centre Strategy 
and Road Map, including supportive streetscape design 
guidelines and engagement with outside partners.

Discussions are currently underway with the development 
community and Fraser Health Authority (FHA) stakeholders 
on the best way to integrate research and innovation and 
the IDEA Centre into future development on the hospital 
campus and in the Sapperton neighbourhood.

Public Engagement
Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
Led by the mayor and consisting of councillors, staff,  
and community members with expertise in  
the areas of communication and engagement, the 
Mayor’s Task Force on Public Engagement worked  
with the SFU Centre for Dialogue to develop a “made  
in New Westminster” awareness and engagement 
strategy. The end result seeks to foster connectedness 
amongst our citizens with City Hall as well as to identify 
new ways for engaging with Council and staff to ensure 
initiatives, programs, and decisions at the municipal  
level are truly reflective of community desires.

STATUS 
The Mayor’s Task Force on Public Engagement formally 
wrapped up in November 2017 and implementation  
of the Public Engagement Strategy is underway. Staff 
training is ongoing, new resources have been implemented 
and are now accessible to City staff, and ongoing 
meetings and collaborations are occurring in coordination 
with all City departments.

COMMUNITY LIVABILITY & SOCIAL EQUITY

ENVIRONMENTAL LEADERSHIP

VIBRANT ECONOMY 
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Economic Development Strategy
Vibrant Economy

DESCRIPTION 
To grow a sustainable, livable and prosperous community, 
the City of New Westminster is making purposeful 
efforts to foster an environment that supports business, 
draws employment, and encourages improved living 
standards. Through the development of an updated 
strategy, the City is taking a long term approach to 
economic development by building upon the 2008 Livable 
City Strategy and establishing new policies and targets 
based on 20 year sector-specific data and projections. 
Work on the strategy commenced in fall 2016 and 
includes consultation with the business community  
and local stakeholders. The strategy also complements 
other policy work underway, ensuring efficient and 
effective progress is made to benefit business, investors 
and residents of New Westminster alike.

STATUS 
Future Forward: An Economic Development Plan for  
New Westminster, 2018–2023 was approved by Council 
on October 1, 2018. Staff are now working to implement 
the strategies and actions outlined in the plan.

Social Equity Policy
Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
The City of New Westminster is committed to creating  
an accessible, caring, inclusive, safe, supportive and 
welcoming community for all its citizens. The dividends 
that result from the collective efforts on this front  
will benefit everyone, as social capital is built and 
contributions made to the prosperity and quality of  
life in the city. As an established leader in the area of 
social planning, the City has made great strides to date, 
initiating policies, plans and strategies that support 
social equity in the community. To build on these 
successes, a social equity lens and directional document 
will be developed to inform both new corporate initiatives 
and existing processes that will include guideposts and 
metrics for providing civic leaders with a clear direction  
as to how the City is working to create a socially equitable 
community bolstered by opportunities for all.

STATUS 
City staff delayed the development of the Social Equity 
Policy. This delay was due to the prioritization of 
homelessness and housing related initiatives. Given  
the return of the Senior Social Planner to his regular 

duties in September 2018, policy development has  
since commenced. This shift in the work program was 
documented in the Regular Council Report dated 
January 8, 2018.

High Quality & Effective Organization
Organizational Excellence

DESCRIPTION 
As an organization, the City of New Westminster strives 
to provide high quality and effective service to the 
community in everything it does. To facilitate continuous 
improvement and organizational effectiveness, the City 
will develop a robust program that incorporates employee 
training and development and a focus on performance  
at all levels of the organization. In addition to ensuring 
the City can attract the best and brightest, the program 
will include a focus on functional competencies and 
performance management in addition to a succession 
planning process that bolsters the City’s ability to deliver 
excellent service seamlessly into the future.

STATUS 
A summary of the findings and recommendations from 
the inter-departmental and departmental working 
groups emerging from phase three of the organizational 
review have been presented to Council and City staff.  
The short-term priorities and action items from the 
working groups will be implemented in phase four. This 
will also include a review of the organizational structure.

Affordable Housing Policy
Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
Located at the heart of Metro Vancouver, New 
Westminster is impacted by the same issues that affect 
neighbouring municipalities, one of the most important 
being housing affordability. To date, the City of New 
Westminster has taken a leadership role on this front, 
implementing a secured market rental strategy which  
has resulted in over 1,000 new rental units either in the 
approval phase or under construction and establishing 
incentives to assist in the preservation of existing 
housing stock. While a majority of items relating to policy 
changes and bylaws to support the development of a 
range of housing products and the preservation of the 
City’s rental housing stock have been developed  
through the OCP update, work currently being done 
through the Mayor’s Housing Affordability Task Force 
will complement this new policy work. In particular,  
the task force will look at facilitating community 
partnerships for developing affordable housing, such  
as leveraging land owned by existing non-profits or  
faith groups and fostering greater collaboration between 
the development industry and the non-profit housing 
sector for the development of new affordable housing 
units. Through this important work, the vision of a  
New Westminster that can accommodate the housing 
needs of all our citizens will be realized.

STATUS 
City staff, with direction from Council, has been 
implementing the Renovictions Action Plan (adopted  
in 2016) to address tenant evictions due to renovations  
in older purpose-built market rental buildings.  
Specific actions include but are not limited to: holding 
information sessions for tenants; incorporating 
information on the City’s website; tracking rental 
buildings in which there has been a change of ownership  
or staff has received information from a tenant; 
forwarding copies of the Tenant Survival Guide to tenants 
of rental. The City also forwarded a resolution related  
to renovictions to the Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM)  
in 2017 urging the Province to undertake a broad review 
of the Residential Tenancy Act. On February 4, 2019, 
Business Regulations and Licensing (Rental Units) 
Amendment Bylaw enacted in 2004 which regulates 
residential rental units by requiring that landlords be 
licensed and by prescribing minimum maintenance 
standards, was amended by Bylaw No. 8085 to add new 
regulations pertaining to building renovations and 
specific restrictions relating to evictions. Amendment 

Bylaw No. 8085 is one of several components of the 
Rental Housing Revitalization Program endorsed by 
Council on January 14, 2019.

City Staff, with direction from Council, have been working 
on the development of two new housing policies: a Rental 
Replacement Policy and an Inclusionary Housing Policy. 
The Inclusionary Housing Policy would seek to leverage 
the market development process to gain voluntary 
inclusion of some affordable and/or rental or special 
needs housing and the Rental Replacement Policy would 
seek to obtain replacement of some or all of the new 
units as rental and/or affordable rental when an existing 
purpose-built market rental building redevelops.  
The work on these two policies has proceeded together.

Child and Youth Friendly Community Strategy
Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
While children and youth under the age of 20 currently 
make up only 1/6th of New Westminster’s population,  
they are the city’s future. To ensure we remain mindful  
of this fact, the City of New Westminster is working to 
develop a strategy that ensures that decisions made at  
the municipal level foster a sense of belonging, caring, 
engaging, learning and playing by our youngest citizens.  
To date, extensive community consultation has taken 
place on the key elements of the strategy and, when 
complete, it will complement the City’s family-friendly 
housing policy by facilitating family-supportive 
infrastructure and amenities such as child care 
development hubs, parks and playgrounds. The end 
result will keep New Westminster a great place to live  
- and grow - for everyone.

STATUS 
City staff, with Council approval, delayed the 
implementation of the Child and Youth Friendly Community 
Strategy. This delay was due to the prioritization of 
homelessness and housing related initiatives. Given  
the return of the Senior Social Planner to his regular 
duties in September 2018, strategy implementation  
has since commenced. This shift in the work program 
was documented in the Regular Council Report dated 
January 8, 2018.
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Regional Leadership
Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
New Westminster is located at the centre of the Metro 
Vancouver region and is a transportation hub for multiple 
modes and the home to many institutions, including 
health care, housing and education. As a result,  
the City is heavily involved in a number of regional 
issues, including:

•  Affordable housing;

•  Homelessness and poverty reduction;

•  Health care delivery; and

•  Transportation and goods movement networks.

New Westminster has long demonstrated leadership in 
regional issues, with both the City and region benefitting 
from this. The City will identify key regional issues that 
impact the city and will work to ensure that good policy 
and practices are developed. Immediate regional 
priorities include the replacement of the Pattullo  
Bridge and the Royal Columbian Hospital expansion.

STATUS 
Mayor and staff continue to work with regional 
colleagues on housing affordability and homelessness 
initiatives as well as with TransLink colleagues on 
financing mechanisms for the Mayors’ Council 
transportation vision.

Council members and staff were present at the Union  
of BC Municipalities conference to discuss major issues 
of significance with the Ministers of Jobs, Trade, and 
Technology, the Minister of Municipal Affairs, the Minister 
of Mental Health and Addictions, and the Minister of 
Citizens' Services.

Staff have also have had ongoing engagements and 
meetings with Ministers and key leaders and institutions 
such as the Port of Vancouver, TransLink, and ministers 
on a federal and provincial level for different strategic 
initiatives and projects.

Truck Route Strategy
Community Livability & Social Equity

DESCRIPTION 
The Master Transportation Plan (MTP), identifies  
a near-term and two alternative long-term truck route 
networks designed to reduce the impacts of goods 
movement on the city while supporting the local 
economy. In general, the MTP’s approach is to move  
truck traffic to the periphery of the city in the near-term, 
with Front Street remaining in the truck route network, 
and then remove trucks moving through the city without  
a local origin or destination in the long term using only 
Brunette Avenue, East Columbia Street, McBride 
Boulevard and Tenth Avenue, with the option of an 
east-west truck tunnel. As an interim measure, in 2014, 
the City approached TransLink, which has jurisdiction 
over truck route designations in the Lower Mainland,  
to remove a number of truck routes consistent with the 
recommended near-term network. In this initiative,  
a strategy will be advanced for addressing the issues 
raised by TransLink which are limiting the ability  
to implement the interim truck route network, while 
advancing the City’s desired long-term truck route network. 

STATUS 
Initiatives currently underway in support of the Truck 
Route Strategy include:

•   Work with the Province on the Pattullo Bridge 
replacement project definition, identifying 
opportunities to remove Eighth Avenue from the  
truck route network.

•   Work with the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure as Brunette Interchange planning 
work progresses.

•   Exploration of strategic opportunities to support  
the City’s desire to remove routes from the truck route 
network, including East Columbia and the eastern 
most section of Ewen Avenue.

STR ATEGIC INITIATIVES

OCP UPDATE
Community Livability & Social Equity, Vibrant Economy

STATUS 
An updated work program for priority OCP implementation 
projects was first presented to Council in January 2019. 
The major OCP implementation projects identified as 
priorities for 2019 are:

DESCRIPTION 
The City of New Westminster’s Official Community Plan (OCP) is a roadmap that provides clear 
direction on how the community should grow into the future. The new OCP provides a renewed 
vision for the city to 2041 and a framework for how the City will evaluate and approve the future 
development required to accommodate 34,000 new residents. While the updated OCP integrates 
policies on land use, the economy, the environment and transportation, a particular focus was 
brought to the issue of housing, specifically how to increase the availability of ground oriented 
housing options while protecting the unique character that defines our community.

22nd Street  
SkyTrain Station Master 
Plan Development 
(2018–2020)

Infill Housing 
Implementation Phase 
One Monitoring Program 
(2018–2019)

Infill Housing  
Program Phase Two 
Implementation: Duplex 
and Triplexes (2019)

Support OCP Action 
Implementation (ongoing)

1 2

3 4
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Land Strategy
Vibrant Economy

DESCRIPTION 
Implementation of a strategy is required to address  
the City’s future land needs. This involves creating an 
inventory of the City’s real estate assets, establishing 
evaluation criteria and reviewing each department’s 
long-term needs.  

The strategy allows for partnering and/or co-locating 
with other government organizations e.g., School District, 
Metro Vancouver, Port Metro Vancouver, the Province or 
developers, where there are shared goals.

STATUS 
The City is currently partnering with the New 
Westminster Secondary School on a land exchange 
agreement that will be mutually beneficial to both 
organizations. In addition the City is in negotiations  
for a potential land exchange in the Sapperton District  
as part of the development of the IDEA Center.

Arts Strategy
Arts and Culture

DESCRIPTION 
The existing Arts Strategy was adopted by Council in 2008. 
The strategy had a five year span, completing in 2013. At 
the February 11, 2016 Arts Commission meeting, the Arts 
Commission recommended the following motion to Council:

That a complete cultural plan is developed and resources 
allocated to achieve that over the next 18 months.

The new Arts Strategy (2017–2022) will replace the 
existing Arts Strategy to reflect the cultural growth of the 
city. In order to continue developing the arts and creating 
new cultural opportunities that reflect the growth of the 
city, we need a new plan that will guide us into the future. 

STATUS 
An open house and workshop on the revised draft arts 
strategy was held on October 27, 2018.

Phases completed:

•  Arts Strategy Task Force formed

•  Arts Strategy community launch

•  SWOT Analysis completed

•  Community consultation completed

•  Draft plan presented on May 25, 2018

•   Revised draft plan presented for community  
comment on October 27, 2018

STR ATEGIC INITIATIVES

Asset Management Program
Organizational Excellence

DESCRIPTION 
Sound management of the City’s assets ensures that 
current city service needs, and how those services are 
delivered in a socially, economically and environmentally 
responsible manner, do not compromise the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs. To further 
develop a robust, systematic and consistent approach  
to asset management, a formal Strategy-Asset 
Management Roadmap should be established. The  
Asset Management Strategy will translate the City’s 
goals into asset management objectives; describe  
the Asset Management System and its role in support  
the achievement of the asset management objectives; 
and inform the approach for development the individual  
asset management plans. The integration of the City’s 
sustainability framework and Asset Management 
Roadmap will encourage a resilient, safe, inclusive 
community and inform the development of a responsible 
municipal growth strategy with positive environmental, 
social, and financial outcomes. 

STATUS 
The AM Steering Committee has been formed, a condition 
assessment for transportation assets has been 
completed, and a corporate Asset Management policy 
has been adopted. Future work includes streamlining  
the City’s assets inventory into the GIS system, utilizing 
the condition rating systems developed for 
transportation assets, identifying assets which are at  
a critical condition stage and incorporating them into  
the five-year capital plan, and piloting a computerized 
maintenance system, Cityworks, for all water assets. 

Ongoing work includes:

•   Developing corporate Asset Management Strategy  
to incorporate the impacts of climate change. 

•  Finalizing Asset Management Plan for all above-ground 
transportation assets. 

•   Taking the Cityworks computerized maintenance 
system pilot on water assets to “go live” in early 2019; 
Phase 2 work plans for integration and roll-out to  
other assets are in development.

•   Developing of the Asset Management Plan for  
civic building with building condition assessments 
commencing in the spring of 2019.

Environment Strategy
Environmental Leadership

DESCRIPTION 
In the past, the City has developed, implemented  
and revised a number of environmental bylaws and 
policies that respond to local, regional and provincial 
requirements or policy directions. Although these 
 policies have addressed a broad range of environmental 
issues, there was an opportunity to improve the 
implementation of these policies and a number of 
additional policy areas that could be addressed more 
fully. The new Environment Strategy and Action Plan 
(ESAP) is intended to identify and systematically respond 
to the full range of local and global environmental issues 
and support the environmental directions of Envision 2032,  
the City’s sustainability framework, and the City’s 
endorsement of the Blue Dot Declaration. The ESAP 
includes a list of priority areas and actions with  
timelines and potential budgets for the implementation  
of each action. 

STATUS 
The Environmental Strategy and Action Plan was  
adopted by Council on September 17, 2018 and work  
is underway for implementation of the plan.
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Report from the 
Director of Finance
Your Worship and Members of Council:

I am pleased to present to you the consolidated financial statements for the 
City of New Westminster for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 to meet 
the requirements of Section 167 of the Community Charter (Charter).

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards as recommended by 
the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered Professional 
Accountants of Canada and meet the requirements of the Ministry of Municipal 
Affairs and Housing.

The City maintains a system of internal controls for the purpose of financial 
statement reliability and protection of city assets. The system includes 
budget preparation and expending funds in accordance with the Council 
approved budget, appropriate receipt of monies paid to the municipality, 
investing in authorized investments, safekeeping of city funds, and ensuring 
accurate and full accounting of all financial transactions. A review of these 
internal controls has been performed by the City’s external auditors and 
management has received a report on their findings.

KPMG LLP, the City’s independent external auditors, has examined the 
financial statements of the City in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards and in their opinion as expressed in the 
attached audit report, the consolidated financial statements, prepared by 
management, present fairly the financial position of the City and the results  
of its operation for 2018.



 

SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at December 31, 2018 
(thousands $000)

As at December 31, 2018, the financial assets of the City totaled $186 million, an increase of approximately $6 million over the prior 

year.  The overall increase relates to monies set aside in reserves for future capital work.  Within the financial assets, cash and 

investments has increased with the repayment of the mortgage for the office tower which was included in accounts receivable in 

prior years.   

Liabilities have increased to $135 million. The $10 million increase over prior year relates to short term borrowing for 

civic infrastructure.

Overall, the City’s net financial assets of approximately $51 million indicates a healthy financial position for the 2018 fiscal year-end.

Non-financial assets, primarily tangible capital assets, totaled $677 million in 2018, a net increase of approximately $27 million 

compared to 2017.  The City invested approximately $51 million to replace and maintain existing infrastructure, building systems 

and equipment, as well as, building new major capital projects.  The major projects in 2018 related to the Uptown Library 

renovations, the City’s fibre optic network, land acquisition for the Queensborough Substation, the annual transportation 

infrastructure program, Ewen Avenue rehabilitation project, and the water and sewer / drainage infrastructure replacement 

programs.  In addition, the City received $0.7 million in contributed tangible capital assets relating to City infrastructure through 

various developments. Offsetting the 2018 capital additions was approximately $24 million representing the annual amortization 

of existing tangible capital assets and the net amount written off on disposal of tangible capital assets taken out of service.

The City’s accumulated surplus increased by approximately $23 million to $728 million. Of this total, financial equity, including 

unrestricted operating surplus and reserves make up $107 million and investment in non-financial assets make up $621 million.

2018 Operations

The Statement of Operations provides an overview of the City’s annual revenues, expenses and surplus 

resulting from operations throughout 2018. The 2018 budget and 2017 figures are provided for comparison 

purposes.  The following is an abbreviated version of the Consolidated Statement of Operations contained 

in the City’s 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

2018 Financial Position
The Statement of Financial Position provides a snapshot of the City’s financial assets, liabilities, non-financial assets and accumulated 

surplus at the end of 2018. Information for 2017 is provided for comparison purposes. The following is an abbreviated version of 

the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position contained in the City’s 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements.

SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
(thousands $000)

For 2018, consolidated operating revenues totaled approximately $216 million; $8 million more than the 

previous year because of an increase in rates and utility usage as well as an in increase in investment interest 

and a gain on disposal of assets.  These increases were offset by a decrease in grants and contributions for 

capital which can fluctuate significantly from year-to-year.  

Operating expenses totaled approximately $193 million, approximately $4 million more than the previous 

year and more than what was budgeted for 2018. The year over year increase is primarily due to annual 

salary adjustments and additional staffing resources approved for 2018, an increase in operating costs, 

including amortization, and an increase in the amount reclassified from tangible capital assets (TCA) to 

departmental operating budgets because these types of expenses do not meet the definition of TCA.  The 

main reason 2018 expenses exceeded budget are the reclassification of the TCA as departmental expenses 

and the loss on disposal of tangible capital assets.

The net annual surplus of $23 million primarily represents an increase in financial equity (reserves) and 

additional investment in non-financial assets (primarily tangible capital assets).

2018 2017
FINANCIAL ASSETS
 Cash and Investments  $ 162,502  $ 129,087 
 Accounts Receivable  20,358  46,760 
 Due from Other Governments  3,441  4,044 

 186,301  179,891 
LIABILITIES
 Accounts Payable, Accrued Liabilities & Deferred Revenue  66,783  66,465 
 Deferred Development Cost Charges  9,209  8,844 
 Long-Term Debt  59,463  49,860 

 135,455  125,169 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  50,846  54,722 

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS  677,466  650,424 

 $ 728,312  $ 705,146 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
 Financial Equity  107,561  101,941 
 Investment in Non-Financial Equity  620,751  603,205 

 $ 728,312  $ 705,146 

2018 BUDGET 2018 2017

REVENUE

Municipal Taxation and Other Levies  $ 80,094  $ 79,145  $ 75,441 
Utility Fees and Charges  80,223  82,701  79,566 
Sale of Services  14,036  15,473  15,341 
Grants and Contributions  21,950  18,430  23,362 
Other Revenue  14,440  19,956  13,662 

 210,743  215,705  207,372 
EXPENSES  

Protective Services  45,026  44,842  43,473 
Parks and Recreation  24,347  24,839  25,379 
Engineering and Development Services  30,835  32,955  33,736 
General Government  23,914  26,987  25,624 
Utility Operations  59,396  62,916  60,499 

 183,518  192,539  188,711 
ANNUAL SURPLUS  27,225  23,166  18,661 
Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year  705,146  705,146  686,485 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, end of year  $ 732,371  $ 728,312  $ 705,146 
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Evolving Reporting Standards

Financial reporting standards, as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB), continue to 

evolve.  PSAB has approved new standards that may impact the City’s financial statements in the years 

2022 and beyond that relate to revenue recognition and measurement, asset retirement obligations and 

financial instruments.  PSAB is also in the early review stage of employee future benefit obligations and 

the use of public private partnerships for service delivery and provision of assets.  

Future Outlook

The City of New Westminster is committed to providing the high level of civic services that are expected 

by our citizens and businesses. Maintaining high service levels, while facing the challenges of a growing 

community, requires planning and a commitment to financially sustainable practices. Council and staff 

have committed to the City’s long range Strategic Plan.  In support of the Plan and its strategic goals, the 

City continues to refine, develop and implement financial policies that promote sound financial practices 

and long term financial sustainability.

Respectfully submitted,

Colleen Ponzini, CPA, CGA 
Director of Finance

Financial Sustainability

One of the City’s strategic goals is to manage its operations in a financially sustainable manner to ensure city services 

continue into the long term. To achieve this goal, the City complies with financial planning legislation and has policies, 

principles and tools to guide short and long term financial decisions. These documents and tools include:

• A five year financial plan prepared annually to project operations and capital projects beyond the current year.  

Anticipating challenges into future years provides the City with an opportunity to plan in a cost effective manner.

• Budgeting principles to provide departments with guidance prior to preparing their budgets and to provide Council 

with a set of criteria used to evaluate budget submissions and approve the budget.

• A long range financial model used to assess the City’s future outlook and to make appropriate long-term 

financial decisions.

• An investment policy to guide the City’s decisions regarding investments.  Appropriately investing funds for 

optimal returns while applying safe investment practices assists the City with revenue requirements in the current 

and future years.

• A purchasing policy to provide sound guidance for purchases of goods and services for the City.  By applying sound 

purchasing practices, the City ensures transparency and accountability as well as mitigating risk and reducing costs.

• A reserve management policy and a revenue/expense policy.  The reserve management policy sets optimal reserve 

levels for sustaining operations and assets into the future and providing for growth.  The revenue policy matches 

revenues with expenses based on stability and need, thereby providing stability to City operations.

2018 Net Financial Assets

The Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets presents the financial resources, clear of financial 

liabilities including debt, that are available for future investment.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
(thousands $000)

In 2018 the City had budgeted to decrease its net financial assets by $26 million to invest in capital infrastructure that was 

to be funded by internal cash resources (annual revenues and reserves) and debt.  Some of the major capital projects were 

delayed to 2019 and as a result, the City’s net financial assets decreased by $3.9 million to a total of $51 million in 2018.

Report from the Director of Finance (continued) Report from the Director of Finance (continued)

2018 BUDGET 2018 2017

ANNUAL SURPLUS  $ 27,225  $ 23,166  $ 18,661 
Exclude non-cash items:    

Amortization of tangible capital assets  22,935  21,934  21,686 
Other (net gain on disposals & contributed TCA)  -    (1,564)  (235)

Include cash items:

Capital expenses  (79,435)  (51,317)  (35,695)
Proceeds from disposal of assets  2,938  4,831  231 
Other  -    (926)  (72)

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  (26,337)  (3,876)  4,576 
Net Financial Assets, beginning of year  54,722  54,722  50,146 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, end of year  $ 28,385  $ 50,846  $ 54,722 
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KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3
Canada
Telephone (604) 691-3000
Fax (604) 691-3031

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Mayor and Council of the Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the City of New Westminster (the “City”), 
which comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

• the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended

• the consolidated statement of change in net financial assets for the year then ended

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2018, and its consolidated results of operations, its 
consolidated changes in net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the City’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause City to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants
Vancouver, Canada 
April 29, 2019

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG

network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative

(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.
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Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2018

Contingencies (Note 13)
Commitments (Note 16)
Contractual Rights (Note 17) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Colleen Ponzini, CPA, CGA
Director of Finance

2018 2017
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 2)  $ 34,459,794  $ 13,576,002 

Accounts Receivable

Property Taxes  2,491,871  3,007,367 

Other  17,866,207  43,752,549 

Due from Other Governments  3,440,623  4,044,014 

Investments (Note 3)  128,043,002  115,510,936 

 186,301,497  179,890,868 

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable  21,622,426  23,707,260 

Due to Other Governments  1,323,686  2,322,588 

Prepaid Taxes  8,524,443  7,764,916 

Deferred Revenue and Deposits  23,870,047  21,184,392 

Deferred Development Cost Charges (Note 4)  9,208,594  8,844,449 

Employee Benefit Plans (Note 6)  11,442,620  11,485,184 

Long-Term Debt (Note 7)  59,463,427  49,859,899 

 135,455,243  125,168,688 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  50,846,254  54,722,180 

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Tangible Capital Assets (Note 8)  673,768,759  647,653,140 

Inventory of Supplies  2,245,008  1,805,089 

Prepaid Expenses  1,451,678  965,428 

 677,465,445  650,423,657 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (Note 9)  $ 728,311,699  $ 705,145,837 
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2018 BUDGET 2018 2017

(Notes 1(g) and 15)

REVENUE
Municipal Taxation and Other Levies (Note 11)  $ 80,093,549  $ 79,144,993  $ 75,440,673 
Utility Rates  80,222,510  82,701,147  79,566,449 
Sale of Services  14,036,048  15,473,302  15,341,350 
Grants from Other Governments  5,036,280  5,414,699  6,621,642 
Contributed Tangible Capital Assets (Note 8(b))  -    705,463  1,161,421 
Contributions  16,915,536  12,309,863  15,578,581 
Other Revenue (Note 12)  14,439,530  19,955,508  13,661,662 

 210,743,453  215,704,975  207,371,778 
EXPENSES

Police Services  28,677,500  29,201,472  28,091,988 
Parks and Recreation  20,250,014  21,457,111  21,699,320 
Fire Services  16,349,257  15,639,590  15,380,536 
Development Services  4,750,733  5,240,493  4,981,722 
Engineering Services  26,084,582  27,714,669  28,754,289 
General Government  23,913,562  26,987,361  25,624,009 
Library  4,097,005  3,382,223  3,679,777 
Utility Operations  59,395,793  62,916,194  60,498,809 

 183,518,446  192,539,113  188,710,450 

ANNUAL SURPLUS  27,225,007  23,165,862  18,661,328 
Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year  705,145,837  705,145,837  686,484,509 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, end of year  $ 732,370,844 $ 728,311,699  $ 705,145,837 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2018 BUDGET 2018 2017

(Notes 1(g) and 15)

Annual Surplus  $ 27,225,007  $ 23,165,862  $ 18,661,328 

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets  (79,435,510)  (51,316,536)  (35,695,157)
Contribution of Tangible Capital Assets  -    (705,463)  (1,161,421)
Proceeds from Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets  2,938,000  4,830,530  231,333 
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets  22,935,000  21,934,083  21,685,760 
Net (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets  -    (858,233)  926,360 

Acquisition of Inventory of Supplies  -    (439,919)  (451,275)

(Acquisition) Consumption of Prepaid Expenses  -    (486,250)  379,206 

(Decrease) Increase in Net Financial Assets  (26,337,503)  (3,875,926)  4,576,134 

Net Financial Assets, beginning of year  54,722,180  54,722,180  50,146,046 

Net Financial Assets, end of year  $ 28,384,677  $ 50,846,254  $ 54,722,180 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Consolidated Statement of Change 
in Net Financial Assets
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
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Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY:

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Annual Surplus  $ 23,165,862  $ 18,661,328 

Items not involving cash:

Amortization  21,934,083  21,685,760 

     Net (Gain) Loss on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets  (858,233)  926,360 

  Contributed Tangible Capital Assets  (705,463)  (1,161,421)

Change in non-cash operating items:

     Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable  26,401,838  (928,310)

     Decrease in Due From Other Governments  603,391  7,058,484 

     Decrease in Accounts Payable  (2,084,834)  (2,748,881)

     Decrease in Due to Other Governments  (998,902)  (283,953)

     Increase (Decrease) in Prepaid Taxes  759,527  (99,644)

     Increase in Deferred Revenue and Deposits  2,685,655  2,693,951 

     (Decrease) Increase in Employee Benefit Plans  (42,564)  59,765 

     Increase in Inventory of Supplies  (439,919)  (451,275)

     (Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expenses  (486,250)  379,206 

 69,934,191  45,791,370 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Development Cost Charge Net Receipts  364,145  2,160,099 

Long-Term Debt Repayments  (2,588,472)  (6,121,645)

Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt  12,192,000  1,325,000 

 9,967,673  (2,636,546)

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets  4,830,530  231,333 

Cash Used to Acquire Tangible Capital Assets  (51,316,536)  (35,695,157)

 (46,486,006)  (35,463,824)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net Purchase of Investments  (12,532,066)  (4,337,151)

 (12,532,066)  (4,337,151)

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  20,883,792  3,353,849 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year  13,576,002  10,222,153 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year  $ 34,459,794  $ 13,576,002 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Corporation of the City of New Westminster (the “City”) is 

a local government in the Province of British Columbia. The 

City prepares its consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards 

as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board 

(“PSAB”) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. 

The accounting policies of the City include the following:

(a) Basis of Presentation
 These consolidated financial statements include the 

accounts of all the funds of the City and the Library and 

Police Boards. Inter-fund transactions and balances 

have been eliminated.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, highly liquid 

money market investments and short-term investments 

with maturities of less than 90 days at acquisition.

(c) Investments
 Investments in the Municipal Finance Authority of 

British Columbia (“MFA”) Pooled Investment Funds – 

Intermediate and Bond Funds are recorded at cost. 

Cost is comprised of subscriptions net of redemptions 

plus earnings that are reinvested in the funds. 

(d) Employee Future Benefits
 The City and its employees make contributions to the 

Municipal Pension Plan. These contributions are 

expensed as incurred.

 Sick leave and post-employment benefits also accrue to 

the City’s employees. The liabilities related to these 

benefits are actuarially determined based on service 

and best estimates of retirement ages and expected 

future salary and wage increases. The liabilities under 

these benefits plans are accrued based on projected 

benefits as the employees render services necessary to 

earn the future benefits.

(e) Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue represents licenses, permits, other 

fees and grants which have been collected, but for 

which the related services have not been performed 

and / or projects have not been constructed. These 

amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal 

year the services are performed and / or the projects 

are constructed.

(f) Development Cost Charges (DCCs)
Development cost charges are deferred upon receipt 

and recognized as revenue only to the extent used to 

finance related authorized capital projects.

(g) Budget
 Budget data presented in these consolidated financial 

statements is based on the City’s Five-Year Financial 

Plan for the years 2018 – 2022, adopted by Council on 

March 5, 2018.

(h) Government Transfers 
 Restricted transfers from governments are deferred and 

recognized as revenue as the related expenditures are 

incurred or the stipulations in the related agreement 

are met. Unrestricted transfers are recognized as 

revenue when received or if the amount to be received 

can be reasonably assured.

(i) Non-Financial Assets
 Non-financial assets are not available to discharge 

existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of 

services. They have useful lives extending beyond the 

current year and are not intended for sale in the 

ordinary course of operations. 
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Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Non-Financial Assets (continued)

i. Tangible Capital Assets (continued)

 Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which 

includes amounts that are directly attributable to 

acquisition, construction, development or 

betterment of the asset. The cost, less residual 

value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, 

are amortized on a straight line basis over their 

estimated useful lives as follows:

 Annual amortization is charged in the year of 

acquisition. Assets under construction are not 

amortized until the asset is available for 

productive use.

ii. Contributions of Tangible Capital Assets
 Tangible capital assets received as contributions 

are recorded at their fair value at the date of 

receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

iii. Works of Art and Historic Assets
 Works of art and historic assets are not 

recorded as assets in these consolidated 

financial statements. 

iv. Natural Resources
 Horticultural assets such as treed areas, grassy 

areas and gardens are not recognized as assets 

in these consolidated financial statements.

v. Interest Capitalization
 The City does not capitalize interest costs 

associated with the acquisition or construction 

of a tangible capital asset.

vi. Leased Tangible Capital Assets
 Leases which transfer substantially all of the 

benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 

property are accounted for as leased tangible 

capital assets. All other leases are accounted for as 

operating leases and the related payments are 

charged to expenses as incurred.

vii. Inventory of Supplies
 Inventories of supplies held for consumption are 

recorded at the lower of weighted average cost 

and replacement cost.

viii. Prepaid Expenses
 Prepaid expenses are recorded as assets in these 

consolidated financial statements.

(j) Reserves and Reserve Funds

i. Reserves Set Aside by Council
 Reserves set aside by Council are surpluses from 

the current operations to finance future capital 

and maintenance projects. These internally 

restricted funds are not available for unrestricted 

purposes without the approval of Council.

ii. Statutory Reserves
 Statutory reserves are funds that have been 

internally restricted by Council. Formal 

establishing bylaws have been adopted pursuant 

to the Community Charter, which define how 

these reserves are to be used.

(k) Revenue Recognition
 Taxation revenue is recorded at the time property tax 

bills are issued. Restricted contributions are recognized 

as revenue when the funds have been spent in accordance 

with the restrictions. Unrestricted contributions are 

recognized when received and collection is reasonably 

assured. Utility rates, sale of services and other revenues 

are recognized when earned.

(l) Use of Estimates
 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 

statements, and the reported revenue and expenses 

during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring 

the use of management estimates relate to the 

determination of employee benefit plans, allowance for 

doubtful accounts receivable, provision for 

contingencies, and useful lives of tangible capital assets.

 Actual results could differ from management’s best 

estimates as additional information becomes available. 

Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the consolidated 

financial statements in the period that the change in 

estimate is made, as well as in the period of settlement if 

the amount is different.

Major Asset Category Useful Life

Building 10–70 years

Vehicles and Equipment 3–50 years

Park Improvements 5–80 years

Engineering Structures 15–100 years

Electrical Distribution System 5–100 years

(m) Segment Disclosures
 A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government 

for which it is appropriate to separately report financial information.

(n)  Liability for contaminated sites
 A liability for contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive 

use and the following criteria are met:

i. An environmental standard exists;
ii. Contamination exceeds the environmental standard;
iii. The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;
iv. It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
 v. A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

 The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-

remediation including operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an 

integral part of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site.

2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include $154,152 (2017 - $3,142,242) invested in the MFA 

Pooled Investment Funds – Money Market Fund, which is considered equivalent to 

cash due to its liquidity. 

3. INVESTMENTS

2018  
Carrying Value

2017  
Carrying Value

MFA – Intermediate Fund, 
2018 Fund Yield – 2.79% 
(2017 – 0.74%)

 $  39,355,984  $  28,962,870

MFA – Bond Fund,  
2018 Fund Yield – 2.44%  
(2017 – 0.00%)

88,687,018 86,548,066

 $  128,043,002  $  115,510,936
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4. DEFERRED DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES

Balance, 
beginning of year

Third Party 
Contributions

Interest 
Allocation

Capital 
Expenses

Balance,  
end of year

Queensborough Drainage  $ 1,937,600  $ 152,120  $ 21,314  $ (1,744,289)  $ 366,745 

Queensborough Transportation *  (3,567,823)  807,105  (39,246)  -    (2,799,964)

Queensborough Parkland  779,233  1,378,848  8,572  (306,100)  1,860,553 

Queensborough Water  800,496  -    8,805  -    809,301 

Queensborough Sanitary  271,786  249,701  2,990  (146,778)  377,699 

Mainland Drainage  257,097  6,653  2,828  -    266,578 

Mainland Transportation  1,677,442  114,330  18,452  (43,275)  1,766,949 

Mainland Parkland  5,244,834  324,677  57,693  (594,300)  5,032,904 

Mainland Water  925,573  25,117  10,181  -    960,871 

Mainland Sanitary  518,211  43,047  5,700  -    566,958 

 $ 8,844,449  $ 3,101,598  $ 97,289  $ (2,834,742)  $ 9,208,594 

5. PENSION PLAN

The City and its employees contribute to the 

Municipal Pension Plan, a jointly trusteed pension 

plan. The board of trustees, representing plan 

members and employers, is responsible for 

administering the plan, including investment of the 

assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a 

multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic 

pension benefits are based on a formula. As at 

December 31, 2017 the plan has about 197,000 active 

members and approximately 90,000 retired 

members. Active members include approximately 

39,000 contributors from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed 

to assess the financial position of the plan and 

adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines 

an appropriate combined employer and member 

contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s 

calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-

age normal cost method, which produces the long-

term rate of member and employer contributions 

sufficient to provide benefits for average future 

entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for 

the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus 

and will be adjusted for the amortization of any 

unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension 

Plan as of December 31, 2015 indicated a $2,224 million 

funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going 

concern basis. As a result of the 2015 basic account 

actuarial valuation surplus and pursuant to the joint 

trustee agreement, $1,927 million was transferred to 

the rate stabilization account and $297 million of the 

surplus ensured the required contribution rates 

remained unchanged.

The City paid $7,218,940 (2017 - $6,998,983) for 

employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2018. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2018 

with results available in 2019.

Employers participating in the plan record their 

pension expense as the amount of employer 

contributions made during the fiscal year (defined 

contribution pension plan accounting). This is 

because the plan records accrued liabilities and 

accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in 

no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the 

obligation, assets and cost to the individual employers 

participating in the plan.

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

* Development Cost Charge Expenditure Bylaws authorize borrowing from other DCC Reserves to cover the deficit in the Queensborough 
Transportation DCC Reserve. The other DCC Reserves will be repaid with interest at the earlier of when the funds are required to complete 
DCC capital works and sufficient Queensborough Transportation DCCs are collected.
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Estimated repayments on long-term debt for the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

2019  $ 2,683,454 

2020  2,783,493 

2021  17,773,098 

2022  2,993,187 

2023  3,103,566 
Thereafter  30,126,629 

 $ 59,463,427 

7. LONG-TERM DEBT

The City receives debt financing through the MFA in accordance with the Community Charter to finance 

certain capital expenses. Debt is presented net of $24,125,015 of repayments and actuarial adjustments.

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The City provides certain post-employment benefits, compensated absences, and termination benefits 

to its employees. These benefits include accumulated non-vested sick leave and post-employment 

disability benefits.

Actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service period of the related 

employee group commencing the year after the gain or loss arises. A full update to the actuarial valuation of 

the accrued benefit liability was performed to determine the City’s accrued benefit obligation as at December 

31, 2017 and results were extrapolated to December 31, 2018. Actuarial assumptions used to determine the 

City’s accrued benefit obligation are as follows:

2018 2017

Accrued Benefit Obligation, beginning of year  $ 12,101,700  $ 10,855,500 

Current service cost  737,400  643,500 

Interest cost  282,500  272,000 

Long term disability expense  (12,900)  101,400 

Benefits paid  (1,099,200)  (892,900)

Actuarial (gain) loss  (287,000)  1,122,200 

Accrued Benefit Obligation, end of year  11,722,500  12,101,700 

Other employee benefit liabilities  48,120  48,523 

Unamortized actuarial loss  (328,000)  (665,039)

Accrued Benefit Liability, end of year  $ 11,442,620  $ 11,485,184 

2018 2017

Discount rate 3.30% 3.00%

Expected future inflation rate 2.50% 3.00%

Expected wage and salary range increases 3.00% - 4.63% 3.00% - 4.63%

Expected average remaining service period 12 years 12 years

2018 2017

Police Building, Bylaw 6603, 2.00%, due 2024  $ 3,142,273  $ 3,586,559 

Moody Park Pool, Bylaw 7209, 2.90%, due 2028  2,380,009  2,572,058 

Moody Park Pool, Bylaw 7209, 4.50%, due 2030  293,052  312,610 

Westminster Pier Park Development Bylaw 7377, 3.65%, due 2026  3,777,132  4,177,580 

Westminster Pier Park Development Bylaw 7377, 2.00% due 2032  1,399,300  1,499,250 

Civic Facilities, Road Maintenance and Park Development Loan 
Authorization Bylaw 7528, 2.60%, due 2036

 11,578,422  12,047,136 

New Westminster Substation Loan Authorization Bylaw 7604, 
2.20% due 2035 

 22,006,239  22,969,706 

New Westminster Civic Infrastructure Loan Authorization Bylaw 
7842, MFA variable rate, due 2021

 14,887,000  2,695,000 

 $ 59,463,427  $ 49,859,899 
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8. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

Assets Under 
Construction Land Building

Vehicles/ 
Equipment 

Park  
Improvements

Engineering Structures Electrical  
Distribution 

System 2018 Total 2017 Total
Engineering
Structures Water Sewer

COST
Balance, beginning of year $ 14,575,173 $ 200,411,784 $ 160,297,083 $ 38,389,243 $ 75,889,754 $ 219,477,175 $ 52,043,281 $ 93,234,973 $ 83,285,503 $ 937,603,969 $ 909,518,343 

 Transfers  (12,651,993)  344,447  759,519  548,661  436,150  1,388,207  2,537,926  6,637,083  -   -   -   

 Additions  19,749,617  5,343,907  934,148  3,228,917  1,728,704  4,106,349  3,583,429  8,565,458  4,781,470  52,021,999  36,856,578 

 Disposals  -    (2,358,964)  (1,429,265)  (2,711,390)  (2,562,767)  (2,980,143)  (17,445)  (1,229,957)  (411,441)  (13,701,372)  (8,770,952)

Balance, end of year  21,672,797  203,741,174  160,561,485  39,455,431  75,491,841  221,991,588  58,147,191  107,207,557  87,655,532  975,924,596  937,603,969 

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
Balance, beginning of year $ -   $ -   $ 67,203,783 $ 20,338,784 $ 36,295,132 $ 107,626,584 $ 11,742,985 $ 24,435,864 $ 22,307,697 $ 289,950,829 $ 275,878,328 

  Amortization  -    -    4,849,741  3,427,893  2,224,583  6,962,412  783,398  1,608,600  2,077,456  21,934,083  21,685,760 

  Disposals  -    -    (1,074,957)  (2,565,400)  (2,562,766)  (2,222,127)  (17,445)  (1,020,089)  (266,291)  (9,729,075)  (7,613,259)

Balance, end of year  -    -    70,978,567  21,201,277  35,956,949  112,366,869  12,508,938  25,024,375  24,118,862  302,155,837  289,950,829 

NET BOOK VALUE

As at December 31, 2018 $ 21,672,797 $ 203,741,174 $ 89,582,918 $ 18,254,154 $ 39,534,892 $ 109,624,719 $ 45,638,253 $ 82,183,182 $ 63,536,670 $ 673,768,759  

NET BOOK VALUE

As at December 31, 2017 $ 14,575,173 $ 200,411,784 $ 93,093,300 $ 18,050,459 $ 39,594,622 $ 111,850,591 $ 40,300,296 $ 68,799,109 $ 60,977,806 $ 647,653,140 

(a) Assets under construction
 Assets under construction having a value of $21,672,797 (2017 – $14,575,173) have not been 

amortized. Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into service.

(b) Contributed tangible capital assets
 Contributed capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution. 

Included in the additions to tangible capital assets is $705,463 of contributed assets received 

during the year (2017 – $1,161,421).

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

(c) Works of art and historic assets
 The City manages and controls various works of art and non-operational historic assets 

including buildings, artifacts, painting and sculptures located at City sites and public display 

areas. These assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not amortized.

(d) Write-down of tangible capital assets
 The write-down of tangible capital assets during the year was $nil (2017 - $nil).



 

2018 New Westminster Annual Report 752018 New Westminster Annual Report74

9. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus and reserves and reserve funds as follows:

2018 2017

Surplus:

Invested in Tangible Capital Assets (a)  $ 617,053,630  $ 600,541,533 

Invested in Inventory of Supplies 2,245,008 1,805,089 

Invested in Prepaid Expenses 1,451,678 965,428 
Reserves:

Reserves set aside by Council:

Affordable Housing 1,733,513 1,587,214 

Childcare Amenity 1,665 1,647 

Community Amenity 3,146,235 3,165,061 

Community Development 8,276,768 8,232,789 

Community Endowment 5,027,885 5,097,386 

Computer Replacement 1,031,610 965,364 

Environment/Childcare Grants 200,000 200,000 

Equipment Replacement 9,154,618 8,636,971 

Facility Maintenance 7,249,727 8,239,014 

Facility Replacement 11,749,898 9,164,531 

General Amenity 339,754 336,057 

General Fund Provisions 5,196,022 3,256,946 

Offstreet Parking Provisions 1,830,208 2,053,362 

Public Art 499,551 389,238 

Electrical Fund Provisions 23,297,352 19,884,570 

Water Fund Provisions 2,770,100 4,983,329 

Sewer Fund Provisions 8,653,115 11,030,525 

Solid Waste Fund Provisions (1,756,070) (1,125,191)

Statutory Reserves:

Cemetery Reserve 706,916 675,106 

Construction of Municipal Works 14,655,819 11,353,738 

Parking Cash in Lieu 1,167,457 1,154,755 

Park Land Acquisition 926,261 866,925 

Tax Sale Land 1,702,979 1,684,450 

Total Reserves 107,561,383 101,833,787 

Total Accumulated Surplus  $ 728,311,699  $ 705,145,837 

(a) Invested in tangible capital assets is comprised of tangible capital assets of $673,768,759 (2017 - $647,653,140) 

less net proceeds from debt spent on tangible capital assets of $56,715,129 (2017 - $47,111,607).

10. TRUST FUNDS

The Election Surplus, Amateur Sports Promotion and Irving House Bequeaths are not reported in these 

consolidated financial statements. The following is a summary of Trust Fund transactions for the year:

2018 2017

Balances, beginning of year  $ 370,917  $ 357,107 

   Contributions received  3,162  -   

   Interest earned  4,081  7,142 

 378,160  364,249 

Expenses and Transfers (Net)  (1,320)  6,668 

Balances, end of year  $ 376,840  $ 370,917 

11. MUNICIPAL TAXATION AND OTHER LEVIES

Taxation revenue for general municipal purposes comprises of the following amounts:

2018 % 2017 %

Gross Taxation and Levies  $ 123,855,656 100.00  $ 118,131,865 100.00

 

Less: Collections on Behalf of Other Governments

Regional District  1,208,543 0.98  1,043,375 0.88

BC Assessment Authority  1,141,408 0.92  1,076,660 0.91

Municipal Finance Authority  5,240 < 0.01  4,546 < 0.01

Province - School  35,252,704 28.46  33,906,913 28.70

South Coast British Columbia  
Transportation Authority

 6,722,380 5.43  6,342,098 5.37

Business Improvement Levies  380,388 0.31  317,600 0.27

  44,710,663 36.10  42,691,192 36.14

Municipal Taxation and Levies $ 79,144,993 63.90 $ 75,440,673 63.86

12. OTHER REVENUE

Other Revenue includes:
2018 2017

Licences, Permits and Fines  $ 7,224,346  $ 7,261,815 

Interest and Penalties  4,744,915  3,629,656 

Loss on Investments  -    (2,330,578)

Gain on Disposals of Tangible Capital Assets  2,747,769  30,281 

Other  5,238,478  5,070,488 

Total Other Revenue  $ 19,955,508  $ 13,661,662 

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
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13. CONTINGENCIES

(a) The loan agreements with the Metro Vancouver 

Regional District and the MFA provide that, if at any time 

the scheduled payments provided for in the agreements 

are not sufficient to meet the authorities’ obligations in 

respect of such borrowing, the resulting deficiency 

becomes a joint and several liability of the City and the 

other participants.

(b) The City obtains long-term debt instruments through 

the MFA. The City is also required to execute demand 

notes in connection with each debenture whereby the 

City may be required to loan certain amounts to the 

MFA. The demand notes are contingent in nature and are 

not reflected in the accounts. Details of the contingent 

demand notes at December 31, 2018 are as follows:

(c) A number of legal claims have been initiated against 

the City in varying or unspecified amounts. The 

outcome of these claims cannot reasonably be 

determined at this time. The amount of loss, if any, 

arising from these claims will be recorded in the 

period in which the loss is determined.

(d) The City is a shareholder of Emergency Communications 

for the Southwest British Columbia Incorporated 

(E-Comm) whose services include: regional 9-1-1 call 

centre for the Metro Vancouver Regional District; Wide 

Area Radio network; dispatch operations; and records 

management. The City has one Class A share and one 

Class B share and the Police Board has one Class A 

share. There are 32 Class A shares and 21 Class B shares 

issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2018. As a 

Class A shareholder, the City shares in both funding the 

future operations and capital obligations of E-Comm (in 

accordance with a cost sharing formula), including any 

lease obligations committed to by E-Comm up to the 

shareholder’s withdrawal date.

(e) The City, as a member of the Metro Vancouver Regional 

District, the Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage 

District and the Greater Vancouver Water District is 

jointly and severally liable for the net capital liabilities 

of these Districts. Any liability which may arise as a 

result of the above noted contingency will be 

accounted for in the period in which the required 

payment is made.

(f) In January 2012, the City entered into an operating 

agreement with BC Hydro for the New Westminster 

Substation. Under the terms of the agreement, the City 

would have to reimburse BC Hydro for its transmission 

system reinforcement costs incurred to provide 

additional electricity supply to the New Westminster 

Substation should the City terminate the agreement 

prior to BC Hydro recovering these costs through 

future electricity sales. 

14. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The City is a diversified municipal government institution 

that provides a wide range of services to its citizens, 

including Police Services, Parks and Recreation Services, 

Cultural Services, Fire and Rescue Services, Development 

Services, Engineering Services, General Government 

Services, Library, and Utility Operations which includes 

Water Supply Services, Electrical Distribution Services, 

Sewer and Drainage Services, and Solid Waste Services. For 

management reporting purposes, the City’s operations and 

activities are organized and reported by Service Areas. 

Service Areas were created for the purpose of recording 

specific activities to attain certain objectives in accordance 

with regulations, restrictions and limitations.

City Services are provided by departments and their 

activities are reported in these Service Areas. Departments 

disclosed in the segmented information, along with the 

services they provide, are as follows:

General Government Services – Legislative Services, 
Administration, Cultural Services, Communications, 
Finance, Information Technology, Human Resources, 
Legal Services, Economic Development, Grants in 
Aid, City Functions, and Strategic Priorities

The Departments and Divisions within General Government 

Services are responsible for adopting bylaws; adopting 

administrative policy; levying and collecting taxes and 

utilities; acquiring, disposing and managing City assets; 

developing and maintaining information technology 

systems and applications; ensuring effective financial 

management and communication; administering City 

grants; managing the Anvil Centre and cultural services; 

developing an effective labour force; administering 

collective agreements and payroll; economic development; 

monitoring and reporting performance; and ensuring that 

high quality City service standards are met.

Police Services

The mandate of Police Services is to keep the community 

safe by enforcing the law, and by preventing and 

reducing crime.

Parks and Recreation Services

Parks and Recreation is responsible for providing, 

facilitating the development of, and maintaining high 

quality parks, and recreation facilities and programs.

Library Services

The New Westminster Public Library is responsible for 

providing library resources and services to the community.

Fire and Rescue Services

The mandate of the Fire and Rescue Services is to protect 

life, property and the environment through the provision 

of emergency response and planning, inspections, code 

enforcement and public education, ensuring safety for 

the public.

Development Services

Development Services is responsible for preparing land use 

plans, bylaws and policies for sustainable development of 

the City, for reviewing and approving new development 

and building permits and inspections.

Engineering Services – Engineering Operations and 
Administration, Cemetery, Parking and Towing 
Services, Animal Services, Vehicle Fleet Services, 
Works Yards

Engineering Services is responsible for planning, building, 

operating and maintaining the City’s physical 

infrastructure including roads and sidewalks, civic 

buildings and facilities. In addition, the divisions provide 

services for parking, towing, cemetery operations, animal 

control and fleet services.

Utility Operations – Water Supply Services, Electrical 
Distribution Services, Sewer and Drainage Services, 
and Solid Waste Services

The Water Utility operates and distributes over 8 million 

cubic meters of drinking water, and maintains water mains 

and pump stations. The Electrical Distribution Utility is 

responsible for the distribution of electricity to the City’s 

citizens and businesses and the City’s fibre network system. 

The Sewer and Drainage Utility is responsible for the 

disposal of sanitary sewage and drainage, as well as the 

network of sewer mains, storm sewers and pump stations. 

The Solid Waste Utility is responsible for garbage collection, 

green waste collection and recycling. 

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
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2018 2017

Police Building,  
Bylaw 6603

 $ 233.776  $ 233,776 

Moody Park Pool, 
Bylaw 7209

 142,759  142,759 

Westminster Pier 
Park, Bylaw 7377

 253,681  253,681 

New Westminster 
Substation, Bylaw 
7604

 463,277  463,277 

Civic Facilities, Road 
Maintenance and  
Park Development, 
Bylaw 7528

 258,507  258,507 

 $ 1,352,000 $ 1,352,000 
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 General 
Government 

Police
 Services

Parks and 
Recreation  Library 

Fire 
Services

 Development 
Services 

 Engineering 
Services 

 Utility 
Operations 2018 2017 2018 Budget

REVENUE

      Municipal Taxation and Other Levies $ 79,144,993 $ -   $ -   $ -   $ -   $ -   $ -   $ -   $ 79,144,993 $ 75,440,673 $ 80,093,549 
 Utility Rates  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    82,701,147  82,701,147  79,566,449  80,222,510 
 Sale of Services  287,895  4,240,937  5,143,913  66,004  196,345  61,759  3,902,426  1,574,023  15,473,302  15,341,350  14,036,048 
 Grants from Other Governments  59,037  1,155,126  3,300  147,371  -    1,752  1,724,841  2,323,272  5,414,699  6,621,642  5,036,280 

 Contributed Tangible Capital Assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    416,985  288,478  705,463  1,161,421  -   

 Contributions  8,070,783  -    238,602  -    -    -    772,890  3,227,588  12,309,863  15,578,581  16,915,536 

 Other Revenue  11,002,148  31,789  627,314  974  39,615  4,934,402  2,356,135  963,131  19,955,508  13,661,662  14,439,530 

 Total Revenue $ 98,564,856 $ 5,427,852 $ 6,013,129 $ 214,349 $ 235,960  $ 4,997,913 $ 9,173,277 $ 91,077,639 $ 215,704,975 $ 207,371,778 $ 210,743,453 

EXPENSES

 Salaries, Benefits and Training $ 13,680,867 $ 23,353,105 $ 13,565,843 $ 2,587,368 $ 13,965,548 $ 3,976,143 $ 12,160,338 $ 4,766,941 $ 88,056,153 $ 85,144,362 $ 88,643,187 

 Contracted Services  2,878,173  3,486,034  2,119,030  68,052  789,269  1,115,716  3,482,803  4,229,631  18,168,708  20,627,243  11,668,378 

 Supplies and Materials  2,468,993  1,135,534  1,861,033  346,592  227,143  148,634  3,107,526  1,161,692  10,457,147  10,631,900  10,075,116 

 Interest and Bank Charges  903,798  -    -    -    -    -    -    607,532  1,511,330  722,857  1,482,642 

 Cost of Sales  1,303,870  -    322,687  -    -    -    -    119  1,626,676  1,570,942  1,143,850 

 Grants  775,716  28,432  -    -    -    -    -    -    804,148  829,797  993,100 

 Insurance and Claims  1,026,771  -    -    -    -    -    402,493  -    1,429,264  1,193,921  1,365,814 

 Utility Purchases and Levies  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    46,662,068  46,662,068  45,347,026  45,211,359 

 Amortization  3,588,845  842,402  3,588,518  380,211  657,630  -    7,787,515  5,088,962  21,934,083  21,685,761  22,935,000 

 Loss on Disposals  360,328  355,965  -    -    -    -    773,994  399,249  1,889,536  956,641  -   

 Total Expenses $ 26,987,361 $ 29,201,472 $ 21,457,111 $ 3,382,223 $ 15,639,590 $ 5,240,493 $ 27,714,669 $ 62,916,194 $ 192,539,113 $ 188,710,450 $ 183,518,446 

ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) $ 71,577,495 $ (23,773,620) $ (15,443,982) $ (3,167,874) $ (15,403,630) $ (242,580) $ (18,541,392) $ 28,161,445 $ 23,165,862 $ 18,661,328 $ 27,225,007 

14. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)

Segmented Revenues and Expenses

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
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15. BUDGET DATA

The reconciliation of the approved budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated financial statements 

is as follows:

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

16. COMMITMENTS

In January 2012, the City entered into an operating agreement with BC Hydro for the New Westminster 

Substation. The agreement commits the City to reimburse BC Hydro for all costs relating to operating, 

maintaining and upgrading the substation. The initial term of the agreement was effective until March 31, 

2015 with subsequent five-year renewal periods until such time as either party serves written notice of 

termination at least one year prior to the end of the current five-year term. The term of the agreement was 

automatically extended for a further five-year period, until March 31, 2020.

17. CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS

The City has various contracts with organizations that are expected to result in the following revenues 

over the next five years that are either to provide services to or acquire capital assets for the community, 

or are for the use of City assets through property, fibre optic and advertising space agreements. 

Certain contractual rights are not included in the above schedule as the amounts received vary from 

period to period and cannot be estimated.

18. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted for the 

current year.

Corporation of the City of New Westminster
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Total Approved Revenue:  $ 213,681,453 
Less:

 Proceeds from Disposals (Included in Other Revenue)  2,938,000 

Total Reported Revenue  210,743,453 

Total Approved Expenses  183,518,446 

Annual Surplus  $ 27,225,007 

2019  $ 9,122,590 
2020  $ 5,534,876 
2021  $ 1,289,935 
2022  $ 3,270,642 
2023  $ 1,339,119 
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General 
Fund

Electrical 
Utility Fund

Water 
Utility Fund

Sewer 
Utility Fund

Solid Waste 
Utility Fund 2018 2017

FINANCIAL ASSETS

 Cash and Cash Equivalents  $ 34,459,794  $ -    $ -    $ -    $ -    $ 34,459,794  $ 13,576,002 

 Accounts Receivable

  Property Taxes  2,491,871  -    -    -    -    2,491,871  3,007,367 

  Other  7,067,686  8,836,862  882,690  985,944  93,025  17,866,207  43,752,549 

 Due from Other Governments  3,440,623  -    -    -    -    3,440,623  4,044,014 

 Investments  128,043,002  -    -    -    -    128,043,002  115,510,936 

 175,502,976  8,836,862  882,690  985,944  93,025  186,301,497  179,890,868 

LIABILITIES

 Accounts Payable  21,496,863  125,563  -    -    -    21,622,426  23,707,260 

 Due to Other Governments  1,323,686  -    -    -    -    1,323,686  2,322,588 

 Prepaid Taxes  8,524,443  -    -    -    -    8,524,443  7,764,916 

 Deferred Revenue and Deposits  23,674,575  195,472  -    -    -    23,870,047  21,184,392 

 Deferred Development Cost Charges  6,493,762  -    1,770,174  944,658  -    9,208,594  8,844,449 

 Employee Benefit Plans  11,442,620  -    -    -    -    11,442,620  11,485,184 

 Long-Term Debt  27,020,167  32,443,260  -    -    -    59,463,427  49,859,899 

 Due to/(from) Other Funds  30,851,541  (17,609,674)  (5,279,492)  (9,389,205)  1,426,830  -    -   

  130,827,657  15,154,621  (3,509,318)  (8,444,547)  1,426,830  135,455,243  125,168,688 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS  44,675,319  (6,317,759)  4,392,008  9,430,491  (1,333,805)  50,846,254  54,722,180 

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS       

 Tangible Capital Assets  470,576,899  70,079,197  46,183,550  85,252,196  1,676,917  673,768,759  647,653,140 

 Inventory of Supplies  332,046  1,759,696  122,142  31,124  -    2,245,008  1,805,089 

 Prepaid Expenses  1,451,678  -    -    -    -    1,451,678  965,428 

 472,360,623  71,838,893  46,305,692  85,283,320  1,676,917  677,465,445  650,423,657 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  $ 517,035,942  $ 65,521,134  $ 50,697,700  $ 94,713,811  $ 343,112  $ 728,311,699 $ 705,145,837 

Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Statements of Financial Position – By Fund
As at December 31, 2018 SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE I (UNAUDITED)
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SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE II (UNAUDITED)

Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Statements of Operations – By Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

General 
Fund

Electrical 
Utility Fund

Water 
Utility Fund

Sewer 
Utility Fund

Solid Waste 
Utility Fund 2018 2017 2018 Budget

REVENUE 

 Municipal Taxation and Other Levies $ 79,144,993 $ -   $ -   $ -   $ -   $ 79,144,993  $ 75,440,673 $ 80,093,549 

 Utility Rates  -    48,254,102  12,374,183  19,453,710  2,619,152  82,701,147  79,566,449  80,222,510 

 Sale of Services  13,899,280  153,258  709,597  711,167  -    15,473,302  15,341,350  14,036,048 

 Grants from Other Governments  3,091,426  -    -    2,323,273  -    5,414,699  6,621,642  5,036,280 

 Contributed Tangible Capital Assets  416,985  -    15,410  273,068  -    705,463  1,161,421  -   

 Contributions  9,082,274  1,215,771  16,949  1,994,869  -    12,309,863  15,578,581  16,915,536 

 Other Revenue  18,992,376  103,021  -    19,095  841,016  19,955,508  13,661,662  14,439,530 

 124,627,334  49,726,152  13,116,139  24,775,182  3,460,168  215,704,975  207,371,778  210,743,453 

EXPENSES

 Police Services  29,201,472  -    -    -    -    29,201,472  28,091,988  28,677,500 

 Parks and Recreation  21,457,111  -    -    -    -    21,457,111  21,699,320  20,250,014 

 Fire Services  15,639,590  -    -    -    -    15,639,590  15,380,536  16,349,257 

 Development Services  5,240,493  -    -    -    -    5,240,493  4,981,722  4,750,733 

 Engineering Services  27,714,669  -    -    -    -    27,714,669  28,754,289  26,084,582 

 General Government  26,987,361  -    -    -    -    26,987,361  25,624,009  23,913,562 

 Library  3,382,223  -    -    -    -    3,382,223  3,679,777  4,097,005 

 Utility Operations  -    39,224,628  8,173,082  12,284,535  3,233,949  62,916,194  60,498,809  59,395,793 

 129,622,919  39,224,628  8,173,082  12,284,535  3,233,949  192,539,113  188,710,450  183,518,446 

ANNUAL SURPLUS  (4,995,585)  10,501,524  4,943,057  12,490,647  226,219  23,165,862  18,661,328  27,225,007 

Interfund Transfers: 

 From Electrical Fund to Current Fund  2,500,000  (2,500,000)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 From Electrical Fund to Provision for Future Exp.  3,500,000  (3,500,000)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 From Water/Sewer Funds to Provision for Future Exp.  7,726,157  -    (3,035,207)  (4,690,950)  -    -    -    -   

 Other Transfers  2,673,940  202,288  (899,112)  (1,057,580)  (919,536)  -    -    -   

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN SURPLUS  11,404,512  4,703,812  1,008,738  6,742,117  (693,317)  23,165,862  18,661,328  27,225,007 

Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year  505,631,430  60,817,322  49,688,962  87,971,694  1,036,429  705,145,837  686,484,509  705,145,837 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, end of year $ 517,035,942 $ 65,521,134 $ 50,697,700 $ 94,713,811 $ 343,112 $ 728,311,699  $ 705,145,837 $ 732,370,844 
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Balances,  
Beginning of Year

Transfer from  
(to) Operating 

and Trust Funds

Third Party  
Contributions  

(Disbursements)
Interest  

Allocation
Proceeds  

from Disposal

Transfers  
For Capital  
Expenses

Balances,  
End of Year

RESERVES SET ASIDE BY COUNCIL

Affordable Housing  $ 1,587,214  $ 128,840  $ -    $ 17,459  $ -    $ -    $ 1,733,513 
Childcare Amenity  1,647  -    -    18  -    -    1,665 
Community Amenity  3,165,061  (53,642)  -    34,816  -    -    3,146,235 
Community Development  8,232,789  (3,202,332)  6,778,533  90,561  -    (3,622,783)  8,276,768 
Community Endowment  5,097,386  (90,572)  (35,000)  56,071  -    -    5,027,885 
Computer Replacement  965,364  309,528  -    10,619  -    (253,901)  1,031,610 
Environment/Childcare Grants  200,000  (2,200)  -    2,200  -    -    200,000 
Equipment Replacement  8,636,971  1,997,146  -    95,007  100,835  (1,675,341)  9,154,618 
Facility Maintenance  8,239,014  1,865,388  -    90,629  -    (2,945,304)  7,249,727 
Facility Replacement  9,164,531  3,170,865  -    100,810  -    (686,308)  11,749,898 
General Amenity  336,057  -    -    3,697  -    -    339,754 
General Fund Provisions  3,256,946  10,969,067  -    3,609  -    (9,033,600)  5,196,022 
Offstreet Parking Provisions  2,053,362  (25,051)  -    -    -    (198,103)  1,830,208 
Public Art  389,238  230,000  -    4,282  -    (123,969)  499,551 
Electrical Fund Provisions  19,884,570  3,412,782  -    -    -    -    23,297,352 
Water Fund Provisions  4,983,329  (2,213,229)  -    -    -    -    2,770,100 
Sewer Fund Provisions  11,030,525  (2,377,410)  -    -    -    -    8,653,115 

Solid Waste Fund Provisions  (1,125,191)  (630,879)  -    -    -    -    (1,756,070)

 86,098,813  13,488,301  6,743,533  509,778  100,835  (18,539,309)  88,401,951 

STATUTORY RESERVES

Cemetery Reserve  675,106  31,810  -    -    -    -    706,916 
Construction of Municipal Works  11,353,738  241,132  -    124,889  4,729,695  (1,793,635)  14,655,819 
Parking Cash in Lieu  1,154,755  -    -    12,702  -    -    1,167,457 
Park Land Acquisition  866,925  49,800  -    9,536  -    -    926,261 
Tax Sale Land  1,684,450  -    -    18,529  -    -    1,702,979 

 15,734,974  322,742  -    165,656  4,729,695  (1,793,635)  19,159,432 

TOTAL RESERVES  $ 101,833,787  $ 13,811,043  $ 6,743,533  $ 675,434  $ 4,830,530  $ (20,332,944)  $ 107,561,383 

2018 Budget  $ 101,728,347  $ 26,820,295  $ 7,427,482  $ 800,872  $ 2,938,000  $ (79,435,510)  $ 60,279,486 

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE III (UNAUDITED)

Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Consolidated Statement of Reserves
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
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Property Assessments and Taxation
Source: City of New Westminster, Finance and Information Technology Department
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Source: City of New Westminster, Finance and Information Technology Department
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Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Permissive Property Tax Exemptions
Source: City of New Westminster, Finance and Information Technology Department

Folio# Name

2018 
Permissive 
Exemption

00111.100 Fraser River Discovery Centre Society  $15,662 
00253.000 Association of Islamic Charitable Projects  $7,412 
00424.000 Word Christian Community Church  $1,076 
00444.000 Holy Trinity Romanian Orthodox Parish Society  $2,107 
00648.001 Emmanuel Pentecostal Church of New Westminster  $1,886 
00734.000 Roman Catholic Archbishop of Vancouver  $2,345 
00853.100 New Westminster Tennis Club  $3,073 
01051.000 Simon Fraser Society for Community Living  $41,958 
01124.000 Columbia Congregation of Jehovah's Witnesses  $2,627 
01125.000 Columbia Congregation of Jehovah's Witnesses  $1,969 
01288.000 Holy Trinity Parish of New Westminster  $8,093 
01411.000 Queens Ave United Church of Canada  $12,989 
01441.001 Honour House Society  $9,422 
01613.501 Fraser Health Authority  $27,955 
03307.000 Parish of St Mary the Virgin  $2,398 
03466.000 Sapperton Old Age Pensioners Association  $5,372 
03472.001 Sapperton Baptist Church  $4,550 
03575.000 Knox Congregation of Presbyterian Church  $3,959 
03680.000 Roman Catholic Archbishop of Vancouver  $4,792 
03724.000 Gospel Church in Christ  $2,399 
04317.000 Royal City Curling Club  $18,142 
05090.000 Tennis Courts  $4,223 
05476.000 Olivet Baptist Church  $5,921 
05631.001 John Knox Christian School Association  $52,308 
05873.100 513 Hornet Royal Canadian Air Cadet Squadron  $5,318 
05873.102 Queen's Park Preschool Society  $1,155 
05873.103 Arts Council of New Westminster  $3,058 
05873.150 Vagabond Players  $4,350 
06128.000 First Presbyterian Church in Canada  $3,197 
06156.000 The Salvation Army in Canada  $4,985 
06191.000 Burnaby Apostolic Christian Church  $1,507 
06207.000 Ukrainian Orthodox Church of Sts Peter & Paul  $2,134 
06208.000 Ukrainian Orthodox Church of Sts Peter & Paul  $1,457 
06420.000 Free Methodist Church in Canada  $3,279 
06755.000 Ukrainian Catholic Eparachy of New Westminster  $6,317 
06866.000 Vancouver Japanese Gospel Church  $1,871 
06879.000 St Barnabas Parish  $2,618 
06881.000 St Barnabas Parish  $3,514 
07811.000 St. Gheorghe Romanian Orthodox Church  $1,522 
09204.000 St Aidans Presbyterian Church  $2,615 
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Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Permissive Property Tax Exemptions (continued)
Source: City of New Westminster, Finance and Information Technology Department

Corporation of the City of New Westminster

Tax Levy by Folio with Actual Use for Year 2018
Source: City of New Westminster, Finance and Information Technology Department

09206.100 Lawn Bowling Club  $13,356 
09206.101 Amateur Radio Club  $1,171 
09778.000 Unity in Action  $1,638 
10145.000 Mainland Baptist Fellowship  $1,912 
10884.000 Mt Calvary Evangelical Lutheran Church of New Westminster  $3,637 
10886.000 Mt Calvary Evangelical Lutheran Church of New Westminster  $2,592 
11003.000 First Church of Christ Scientist of New Westminster  $1,332 
11174.000 Mount Zion Lutheran Church of New Westminster  $9,710 
11831.000 Thornebridge Gardens Holdings Ltd/Royal City Community Church  $6,472 
12507.000 St Joseph Damascene Antiochian Orthodox Church  $3,061 
12509.001 St Joseph Damascene Antiochian Orthodox Church  $2,093 
12884.000 Roman Catholic Archbishop of Vancouver  $2,533 
13294.000 Khalsa Diwan Society-New Westminster  $4,697 
13299.000 Khalsa Diwan Society-New Westminster  $2,076 
13300.001 Khalsa Diwan Society-New Westminster  $1,494 
13314.001 Khalsa Diwan Society-New Westminster  $1,549 
15475.002 The Connaught Heights Pentecostal Assembly  $13,075 
15570.001 The Connaught Heights Pentecostal Assembly  $7,367 

 $371,298

Folio# Name

2018 
Permissive 
Exemption Owner Name Actual Use Description Levy

1 First Queensborough Shopping Centres Ltd Shopping Centre $2,443,439

2 Royal City Shopping Centre Ltd Shopping Centre $1,791,222

3 2725321 Canada Inc Storage & Warehousing $1,789,374

4 Brewery District Investments Ltd Office Building $1,675,296

5 Kruger Products Real Estate Holdings Inc Pulp/Paper Mill $1,577,434

6 Beedie Queensborough Lands Ltd Storage & Warehousing $1,325,127

7 1118109 BC Ltd Shopping Centre $1,262,690

8 Mrsl (New Westminster) Nominee Ltd Stores & Service - Commercial $1,221,568

9 First Capital (Plaza Retail) Corp Shopping Centre $1,097,545

10 Upg Property Group Inc Shopping Centre $923,354

11 Vancouver Fraser Port Authority Storage & Warehousing $716,773

12 Lowe's Companies Canada Ulc Big Box Retail Store $672,742

13 Vancouver Fraser Port Authority Storage & Warehousing $583,217

14 Bosa Properties (Riversky Land) Inc Multi Family - High rise $506,920

15 Telus Communications Inc Office Building $486,802

16 Lezam International Inc Office Building $457,748

17 Vancouver Fraser Port Authority Storage & Warehousing $456,547

18 Treit Holdings 19 Corp Hotel $435,236

19 Vancouver Fraser Port Authority Industrial $411,023

20 Brewery District Investments Ltd Shopping Centre $395,036

21 First Capital (Plaza Retail) Corp Shopping Centre $386,327

22 R S Commercial Properties Ltd Shopping Centre $378,548

23 0974971 BC Ltd Multi Family - High rise $376,350

24 960 Quayside Drive Holdings Ltd Office Building $340,075

25 G C Queens Court Ltd Office Building $300,126
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